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Hon John Day MLA 
Minister for Planning 
11th Floor, Dumas House 
2 Havelock Street 
WEST PERTH WA 6005 

Dear Minister,

In accordance with Section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, we hereby submit for your information and presentation to Parliament the Annual Report of the 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority for the reporting period 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006. 

Yours sincerely,         

Richard Muirhead   Jeff Dowling      Kieran Kinsella

Chairperson    Deputy Chairperson     Chief Executive Officer

STATEMENT
OF COMPLIANCE



ABOUT THE

VISION
Dynamic, authentic and 
sustainable places

VALUES
Listen
Lead
Communicate
Innovate

METROPOLITAN
REDEVELOPMENT
AUTHORITY
The Metropolitan 
Redevelopment 
Authority (MRA) was 
established pursuant 
to the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority 
Act 2011 (the Act) and 
began operations in 
January 2012.

With a combination of 
regulatory planning 
and land development 
powers, the MRA takes 
projects from vision 
setting, through master 
planning, to development, 
sales, project marketing, 
place management and 
activation. 

Pursuant to section 7 of the Act, the functions of  
the MRA are:

(a) to plan, undertake, promote and coordinate the 
development of land in redevelopment areas in the 
metropolitan region; and

(b) for that purpose: 
i. to prepare and keep under review strategic and 

policy documents in relation to the development 
of land in redevelopment areas; 

ii. under Part 5 [of the Act] to prepare and keep 
under review a redevelopment scheme for each 
redevelopment area; and

iii. under Part 6 [of the Act], to control development 
in each redevelopment area. 

With five redevelopment areas in its portfolio, the MRA 
has the capacity to transform urban spaces and meet the 
challenges of Perth’s future growth by creating strong 
communities while also encouraging sustainability and 
innovation in urban development. The MRA’s unique 
combination of planning and development powers and 
place management expertise allows for the delivery 
of successful communities with new residential and 
commercial opportunities, public open space and 
supporting infrastructure for the benefit of visitors, 
workers and residents alike.

Through innovative design and planning – and in 
partnership with government, communities and 
industry – the MRA promotes economic wellbeing,  
urban efficiency and social inclusion, connects people 
and communities, and protects and restores the 
environment wherever possible. Working together,  
the MRA and its partners revitalise communities and 
build a distinctive sense of place that is transforming  
the city and redefining key areas of metropolitan Perth 
for future generations.

PURPOSE
To deliver 
redevelopment  
projects of strategic 
significance in 
metropolitan Perth
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The MRA creates successful 
communities where people 
want to live, work and visit 
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With the recent economic slowdown, the WA economy 
is expected to grow at only two per cent in 2015-16 – 
its slowest rate of growth since 1990-91. Despite this, 
Western Australia’s population is still predicted to 
grow to 2.6 million people by 2024. Thus it is important 
that the MRA continues its work to provide sufficient, 
innovative residential and commercial accommodation, 
work places and community spaces to ensure that 
Perth can accommodate its share of this growth. In this 
environment, it is even more important that Perth presents 
itself as an internationally attractive and competitive place 
to live, work, play and invest. The combination of private 
and Government investment in major projects is helping 
to ensure our city provides adequate accommodation, jobs 
and services for this growing community.

Through an innovative approach to redevelopment, the 
MRA attempts to meet our goal of creating dynamic, 
authentic and sustainable places across metropolitan Perth 
and, in doing so, to revitalise our urban communities. 
Now in its fourth year of operations, the MRA continues 
to improve how we operate in order to respond to the 
needs of Government and private sector trends and to 
better meet the needs of our customers and the Western 
Australian community. 

As the delivery arm of the State Government’s planning 
portfolio, the MRA is able to tackle complex projects and 
achieve exceptional results due to our statutory power 
to streamline planning regulation, our ability to attract 
private sector investment, our capacity to deliver high 
quality built form and our expertise in place activation to 
create lively public spaces.

The WA Government has charged the MRA with planning, 
promoting and coordinating the development of land in 
redevelopment areas in metropolitan Perth. In order to 
best achieve this, the MRA’s vision was reaffirmed by the 
Board during the year and the MRA Strategic Plan 2014-18 
continues to provide the foundation of our ambitious plan 
to transform urban areas and meet the challenges of the 
city’s future growth.

The development of Elizabeth Quay, Perth City Link 
and Riverside all continued to progress during the 
year. Together, these projects are regenerating our 
city’s entertainment, recreation, cultural, shopping, 
employment and public transport areas, enhancing the 
eastern gateway to the city and attracting billions of dollars 
of private investment into the State. While responding 
to the challenges of delivering major projects in an 
increasingly populated and active city, the MRA expects 
construction of the public realm at Waterbank and Yagan 
Square to commence in late 2015, with Elizabeth Quay also 
scheduled to open to the public by Christmas 2015.

We launched the Midland Master Plan in May setting out 
a long term vision for this important and rapidly growing 
metropolitan centre. The revitalisation of the Armadale 
and Wungong Urban areas is progressing and creating 
affordable living options and employment opportunities 
for tens of thousands of people in Perth’s east; while on 
the coast, Scarborough – already one of WA’s most loved 
beaches – is experiencing a surge of activity ahead of its 
major transformation into what we believe will become 
one of Australia’s best beachfronts.

On behalf of the Board, I take this opportunity to 
acknowledge and thank the Hon John Day MLA, Minister 
for Planning and all of our partners in Government and the 
private sector. We also want to acknowledge our dedicated 
CEO, Executive team, staff and consultants who have 
worked tirelessly together to achieve a great number of 
milestones across the redevelopment areas this year.

I would also like to commend my fellow Board members, 
and the Chairs and members of the Land Redevelopment 
Committees for the significant contribution they have 
made to the outcomes achieved this year through their 
strategic guidance and commitment to strong governance.

I believe the MRA is well placed for the future. With strong 
leadership and a great team ready to take advantage 
of the opportunities ahead, the MRA will continue to 
transform metropolitan Perth, providing new commercial, 
residential, retail and public spaces where people want to 
live, work and visit – now and for generations to come. 

Richard Muirhead 
Chairperson

CHAIRPERSON’S REVIEW 
The MRA’s unique combination of planning, development and place management powers 
within a single agency continue to see positive outcomes achieved across our projects in the five 
redevelopment areas of Armadale, Central Perth, Midland, Scarborough and Subiaco.
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Representing more than $3.8 billion of Government 
investment, the MRA’s projects are expected to attract a 
further $12 billion in investment from the private sector. 
Across our five redevelopment areas, 13 projects will 
transform more than 2,600 hectares of underutilised land 
and provide new commercial, hotel, residential and retail 
accommodation and public spaces. It is also anticipated 
that during construction, the MRA’s projects will create 
thousands of jobs for Western Australians.

The Elizabeth Quay, Perth City Link, Riverside, Perth 
Cultural Centre, Chinatown, Claisebrook Village, New 
Northbridge and East Perth Power Station projects are 
situated within the Central Perth Redevelopment Area. 

The MRA continues to activate and manage the Perth 
Cultural Centre precinct, hosting more than 50 unique 
events with over 1,200 performances that attracted 
thousands of people to rediscover and enjoy our city during 
2014-15. With construction and planning well progressed for 
Elizabeth Quay, Yagan Square and Scarborough, the MRA 
has been working to ensure each of these places offer new 
events and experiences that complement the offerings in the 
Perth Cultural Centre and other popular city spaces. 

The vision for Elizabeth Quay is rapidly being brought to life 
to provide a contemporary waterfront precinct for Perth’s 
CBD. Construction of the inlet and public realm has forged 
ahead, allowing the MRA to commence planning for the 
operations and future management of the precinct when it 
opens to the public in late 2015.  

Other key destinations for Perth, including Yagan Square, 
Scarborough and Waterbank, are due to commence 
construction in 2015-16. The ongoing transformation of 
East Perth through planning and development of the 
former Chemlabs site, the nearby Waterbank precinct and 
the East Perth Power Station are perfectly complementing 
investment from other Government agencies and the private 
sector – particularly the new Perth Stadium and  associated 
transport infrastructure.

It is exciting to think that through delivery of these projects, 
thousands of people will have new opportunities to interact 
with our city like never before – moving from the banks 
of the Swan River, through the shopping and business 
precinct of Perth to the cultural and entertainment hub of 
Northbridge.

Outside the CBD, the MRA continues to drive investment 
and development and breathe new life and opportunity into 
suburban corridors. We are continuing a strong history of 
urban renewal and capitalising on each area’s natural assets 
to build the capacity of key metropolitan centres. 

In 2014-15, new master plans were developed for the 
Midland Redevelopment Area and the Scarborough 
Redevelopment Area. For Midland, the MRA is working to 
complement investment in health and education facilities 
for the region and strengthen Midland’s role as a strategic 
metropolitan centre for Perth.  

Works will commence in 2016 to deliver new beachfront 
destinations in Scarborough and create a planning 
framework that will encourage private development and 
investment in the area. By 2018, Scarborough will become 
one of Australia’s best beaches and a vibrant visitor precinct 
for people of all ages to enjoy at all times of the year. 

Similarly, the redevelopment of Armadale is creating 
new housing, employment and lifestyle opportunities for 
Perth’s fast-growing south east metropolitan corridor while 
continued investment in Subiaco is creating a vibrant and 
sustainable extension of the existing community.

All of these achievements are the result of the hard work 
of our very dedicated MRA team – I thank the staff for their 
commitment and congratulate the team on the successes 
that have been collectively achieved. I would also like to take 
this opportunity to acknowledge and thank the MRA Board 
for their support and strategic direction which continues 
to lead the MRA, ensuring we are prepared to move the 
business forward.

With a clear vision – and in partnership with private sector and 
the broader community – the MRA will continue to  
transform urban spaces and meet the challenges of Perth’s  
future growth by creating strong communities, and 
encouraging innovation in urban renewal and place activation.

Kieran Kinsella 
Chief Executive Officer

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
REPORT: YEAR IN REVIEW 
The MRA achieved a number of exciting milestones during this reporting period and remains on track to deliver 
a strategically staged redevelopment program, driven by the need to accommodate Perth’s growing population.
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2014 - 2015 HIGHLIGHTS

Brookfield Office Properties Pty Ltd was selected as 
the Preferred Proponent for Lots 5 and 6 at Elizabeth 
Quay, with potential for a mix of office, residential 
and retail development

SALES & DEVELOPMENT
During 2014-15, the MRA achieved settlement on a number of landholdings and properties, 
and progressed contract negotiations or market testing on others, including: 
• Brookfield Office Properties Pty Ltd was selected as the Preferred Proponent for Lots 5 

and 6 at Elizabeth Quay, located at the northern edge of the inlet with potential for a mix 
of office, residential and retail development. The MRA is continuing negotiations with 
Brookfield and expects to finalise the sales contract by late 2015.

• Lot 404 William Street in the Perth Cultural Centre, a two-storey character building 
situated on 279 square metres of land, was sold in August 2014. 

• The sale and settlement of Lot 323 Aberdeen Street, a heritage character building and one 
of the MRA’s last assets in New Northbridge.

• In Subiaco at the Australian Fine China precinct, Lots 202, 207 and 208 were sold to 
Puresilver Corp, a subsidiary of US parent company Sentinel Real Estate Corporation. 
The three residential developments will include more than 170 dwellings which are set to 
provide long term rental housing. 

• A sales contract for the sale of Lot 801 Helena Street in Midland was entered into with 
Sterlink Developments for a mixed use development including apartments, cafes, shops 
and offices.

• The MRA is managing the release and sale of the East Perth Power Station site on behalf 
of the State Government. An Expression of Interest was released to the market and closed 
in April 2015. The State supports redevelopment of the power station to include sensitive, 
adaptive re-use that incorporates public uses. 

• Within Perth City Link, the preferred proponent was announced, for the development 
of two lots immediately east of the Perth Arena (Lots 2 and 3A). Minor International will 
construct a 250-room, 4.5 star AVANI hotel and more than 200 one and two bedroom 
serviced apartments, as well as a range of hospitality and leisure uses.

• WA property developer Diploma Properties Pty Ltd was selected to transform Lot 101 
Hay Street in the Riverside project into a new mixed use development comprising a 1,500 
square metre supermarket and a 16-storey tower with more than 200 apartments.



PEOPLE AND PLACES
The MRA is delivering places that people want to live,  
work and visit. During the reporting year:

• A total of 411 development applications were lodged with 
the MRA, with a total value of more than $954 million of 
investment across our five redevelopment areas. 

• The Perth Cultural Centre hosted more than 50 events 
attracting approximately 500,000 people to more than 
1,200 performances. 

• Far East Consortium lodged a development application 
for a 28-storey mixed use development for Lots 9 and 10 
within Elizabeth Quay, including The Ritz-Carlton hotel, 
residential and ground floor retail and dining.

• BHP Billiton committed $10 million funding for 
development of the water park at Elizabeth Quay through 
their Community Development Program.

• In March 2015, the MRA sponsored local and international 
artists who undertook medium and large scale murals 
along 12 walls within the Chinatown precinct as part of 
the FORM’s PUBLIC festival.

• Plans for Yagan Square at Perth City Link were unveiled 
in November 2014. Inspired by the lake system that ran 
through the CBD, Yagan Square will feature food markets, 
native gardens, a children’s play area, water feature, a 
range of event spaces, public art and a digital tower. 

• Ongoing development of the Kings Square precinct by 
Seven Entertainment Pty Ltd as part of the Perth City 
Link project. Construction of the first four commercial 
buildings continued with completion due later in 2015, 
with plans for the first residential building – a twin-tower, 
563-apartment complex up to 49 storeys – also confirmed. 

• The Midland Master Plan was announced in May 2015 
providing a strategic direction for the redevelopment of 
Midland over the next 10-15 years. 

• A new master plan was developed for Scarborough to 
help the area reach its potential as one of Australia’s best 
beachfronts.
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The Perth Cultural Centre hosted 
more than 50 events attracting 
approximately 500,000 people 
to the space

WORKS
The MRA’s significant investment in capital works over the 
12-month period included: 
• Within the Elizabeth Quay project, construction of the 

inlet walls, fabrication and installation of the pedestrian 
bridge and ferry terminal canopy was completed. 

• Within the Riverside project, works commenced on the 
Lot 101 Hay Street site, formerly known as Chemlabs, 
in February 2015 with the demolition of the redundant 
buildings and works to prepare the site for development. 

• Completion of works to a portion of Wellington Street, 
between Milligan and King Streets, to install substantial 
services infrastructure upgrades including power, water, 
sewer, gas and telecommunications to support the 
delivery of new buildings in the Perth City Link project 
and build the overall capacity of the CBD. The City of 
Perth also completed streetscape enhancement works to 
this portion of Wellington Street.

• The first Chinatown revitalisation works were completed 
in 2014, and included an entry statement, road painting, 
lanterns, decking and screening featuring the ‘lucky 
cloud’ motif. Further temporary lighting and seating was 
implemented in the later part of the 2014-15 financial 
year.  

• At Forrestdale Business Park, the Ranford Road expansion 
providing a dual carriageway from Armadale Road to 
Tonkin Highway was completed. 

• Construction finished on the new residential and retail 
developments by Pindan and QUBE Property Group 
within the one hectare Centro North precinct in Subiaco, 
which links Station Square with the facilities to the north, 
including St John of God Hospital. 

• Feature lighting was installed at the clock tower and 
amphitheatre in Scarborough.
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STRATEGIC PLAN 2014-2018 
The MRA Strategic Plan 2014-18 highlights what 
the MRA is, what it does and where it is headed 
over the next four years. As the roadmap of how 
the MRA will deliver successful redevelopment 
projects, the Strategic Plan outlines the Corporate 
and Redevelopment Area Objectives, as well as the 
Strategic Initiatives that will drive the achievement of 
the objectives over the next four years and enhance 
the MRA’s capacity to deliver effectively on these 
objectives. A full copy of the Strategic Plan is available 
at mra.wa.gov.au.

PLACE MAKING MODEL
The MRA’s Place Making Model maps the business 
processes used by the MRA to create places and 
deliver on our Redevelopment Area Objectives. As a 
developer, planning authority and place manager, the 
MRA operates within a unique space and this model 
visually shows how these functions work together 
throughout a project’s life cycle. Adopted in March 
2014, the Place Making Model captures the dynamic 
and diverse nature of the MRA’s projects.

STRATEGIC DIRECTION
THE MRA MODEL AND 
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The past year has been a busy and successful time in the 
MRA’s redevelopment areas, with the MRA delivering  
and facilitating exciting events and finding new ways to 
engage with those using our spaces. This included more 
than 50 presentations to community groups, industry 
 and stakeholders.

international artists transforming its walls and laneways 
into urban art pieces. More than 10 artworks were created 
throughout Chinatown and Nicks Lane, giving new life to 
underutilised spaces.

In preparation for when Elizabeth Quay opens in late 2015, 
the MRA called for expressions of interest for a range of 
place making initiatives. Innovative business operators, 
artists and event coordinators have been asked to help 
activate the public areas and vacant lots ahead of private 
development. Event and mobile businesses have also 
been offered the opportunity to be among the first to use 
Elizabeth Quay’s event and public spaces from early 2016. 

The Perth Cultural Centre has continued to mature since 
the first events were held in 2011, having now become a 
sought-after event space for independent operators to use. 
Some 1,200 performances were held in the space this year, 
including:

• Winterland, the city’s first ice-skating rink returned for 
a two-week season in July 2014, which saw over 30,000 
people enjoy ice-skating, a winter themed bar, café and 
food stalls.

• The OnWilliam Christmas Night Markets with more than 
70 stallholders selling unique and handmade wares and 
showcasing Perth’s creative industries to an estimated 
15,000 people over two nights.

• The Urban Beach returned during December 2014 and 
January 2015 giving people the opportunity to build 
sandcastles amongst the skyscrapers. The MRA also 
worked with the State Library of WA to provide daily 
children’s storytelling sessions in the sand. 

• During January and February 2015, the Perth Cultural 
Centre was once again home to the Fringe World Festival 
marking its fourth residency in the precinct. Over 
600,000 people attended free and ticketed events over 
the 31 days of the festival. 

Perth’s inaugural Fairfax  
Night Noodle Markets, a 
hawker-style market ran over 
12 nights, and saw more than 
115,000 people attend
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THE MRA 
IN ACTION

Central Perth Redevelopment Area
The MRA supports events across the city – both within 
our projects and across the wider CBD. This year we have 
helped to bring large scale artistic events to the city to 
help create a sense of place and give Perth people the 
opportunity to engage with the arts. For example, the MRA 
assisted The Giants on their journey through the city for 
the Perth International Arts Festival.

The MRA also took part in FORM’s PUBLIC 2015 festival, 
supporting the PUBLIC Symposium and giving Chinatown 
in Northbridge a splash of colour with local, national and 

By putting people first, the MRA creates 
the places where they want to be. 



• Perth’s inaugural Fairfax Night Noodle Markets was held 
in March 2015. A contemporary hawker-style market ran 
over 12 nights and saw more than 115,000 people attend. 
This was followed a fortnight later by the return of the 
popular Food Truck Rumble.

• In June 2015, Celebrate WA and WA Day long weekend 
festivities were held in the Perth Cultural Centre with 
the Perth International Jazz Festival and State of the 
Art music festival as well as WA Day Come out and Play 
activities across the various cultural institutions.

This year the MRA, through its commercial operations 
arm, has also worked with current tenants to renew leases 
and continue the vibrant community precinct and thriving 
home for creative industries, restaurants and galleries that 
was created on William Street in 2010.

Armadale Redevelopment Area
The MRA has a track record of supporting the creative 
arts industry and community organisations by providing 
temporary licences for our properties. We are continuing 
to provide temporary accommodation for the Armadale 
Community Men’s Shed and the Armadale Society of Artists 
while master planning in the area takes place.

Summerset Arts Festival 
attracted thousands of people 
to Scarborough beach to enjoy 
the Seaside Carnival, Sunset 
Veranda pop-up performance 
venue, markets, concerts and 
children’s activities

11OVERVIEW

Midland Redevelopment Area
The MRA coordinated the Midland ANZAC 
Commemorative Service on 25 April 2015 at the Midland 
Workshops. Approximately 700 people attended the 
morning service, including former employees of the 
Workshops and their families. At the conclusion of the 
service, the Stan Gurney V.C. Memorial Bike Race was held.

Scarborough Redevelopment Area
The Scarborough beachfront remained a popular  
events destination in 2014-15, with some landmark  
events held during the summer season:

• During January and February 2015, the MRA supported 
the City of Stirling’s successful Summerset Arts Festival. 
Now in its seventh year, the festival attracted thousands 
of people to Scarborough Beach to enjoy the Seaside 
Carnival, Sunset Veranda pop-up performance venue, 
markets, concerts and children’s activities.

• In February and March 2015, the MRA proudly 
supported the WA Volleyball Open and Volleyball 
Australia National Beach Volleyball Series 2015. Both 
events were attended by several thousand competitors 
and spectators from around the country filling the 
Scarborough Amphitheatre.



OBJECTIVES
REDEVELOPMENT AREA 

Underpinning the MRA’s vision are its key objectives for each Redevelopment 
Area. As per regulation 14 of the MRA Regulations 2011, the objectives of each 
Redevelopment Area are as follows: 

To build a sense of place 
by supporting high-quality 
urban design, heritage 
protection, public art 
and cultural activities 
that respond to Perth’s 
environment, climate and 
lifestyle.

To promote economic 
wellbeing by supporting, 
where appropriate, 
development that 
facilitates investment 
and provides opportunity 
for local businesses and 
emerging industries to 
satisfy market demand.

To promote urban 
efficiency through 
infrastructure and 
buildings, the mix of 
land use and facilitating a 
critical mass of population 
and employment.

To enhance connectivity 
and reduce the need 
to travel by supporting 
development aimed at 
well-designed places that 
support walking, cycling 
and public transit.

To promote social 
inclusion by encouraging, 
where appropriate, a 
diverse range of housing 
and by supporting 
community infrastructure 
and activities and 
opportunities for visitors 
and residents to socialise.

To enhance environmental 
integrity by encouraging 
ecologically sustainable 
design, resource efficiency, 
recycling, renewable 
energy and protection of 
the local ecology.

Sense of 
Place

Economic 
Wellbeing

Urban 
Efficiency

Connectivity Social 
Inclusion

Environmental 
Integrity
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AREAS 
REDEVELOPMENT 
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ARMADALE  
Armadale Redevelopment Scheme 
Wungong Urban Water Redevelopment Scheme

CENTRAL PERTH  
Central Perth Redevelopment Scheme

MIDLAND  
Midland Redevelopment Scheme

SCARBOROUGH  
Interim Scarborough Redevelopment Scheme

SUBIACO  
Subiaco Redevelopment Scheme

In accordance with the Act, each 
Redevelopment Area has a Land 
Redevelopment Committee to enable 
community and local government 
involvement in the development and 
delivery of the MRA’s projects. 

The Redevelopment Schemes under which the MRA 
operates are:

The MRA is driving regeneration across five 
Redevelopment Areas – Armadale, Central 
Perth, Midland, Scarborough and Subiaco 



14 OVERVIEW

AREAS

AGENCY 
PERFORMANCE 
REDEVELOPMENT 

Government funding for capital 
works in 2014-15 was allocated to 
active projects, with a number of 
projects within the MRA portfolio 
largely normalised and nearing 
completion.

In 2014-15, the MRA’s projects 
represented more than $3.8 billion 
worth of Government investment, 
with a potential investment 
attraction of almost $13 billion.

Within the MRA’s five 
Redevelopment Areas 
there are 13 redevelopment 
projects, which are providing 
new commercial, hotel, 
residential and retail 
accommodation and public 
spaces across more than 
2,600 hectares of land



The Central Perth Redevelopment 
Area includes the Elizabeth Quay, 
Perth City Link, Riverside, Perth 
Cultural Centre, Chinatown, 
Claisebrook Village, New 
Northbridge and East Perth Power 
Station projects. 
These projects represent more 
than $9.5 billion in investment 
attraction, over $2.6 billion in 
Government investment and cover 
245 hectares of Perth’s CBD. 
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CENTRAL PERTH 

AREA
REDEVELOPMENT 
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Elizabeth Quay will 
be Perth’s premier 
waterfront destination, 
reconnecting the iconic 
Swan River with the city’s 
central business district. 

ELIZABETH 
QUAY

16 OVERVIEW



Construction of Elizabeth Quay forged ahead this year with 
the inlet and public realm due for completion in late 2015. 
This year:
• Managing Contractor, Leighton Contractors and Broad 

Construction Services, achieved significant project 
milestones including:

 − Completion of the inlet walls, fabrication and 
installation of the pedestrian and cyclist bridge. 

 − Commencement of construction of the BHP Billiton 
Water Park, island, three food and beverage outlets 
including reconstruction of the historic Florence 
Hummerston kiosk, and the new Public Transport 
Authority ferry terminal. 

 − Commencement of bulk earthworks to excavate the 
inlet, installation of services to the public areas, and 
upgrades to the surrounding road infrastructure.  

 − Progression of a $20 million package of revitalisation 
works for Barrack Street Jetty including the upgrade 
and installation of essential services, upgrade of the 
internal road network and creation of new public 
spaces.

Featuring offices, 
apartments, hotels, shops 
and restaurants set around 
a new inlet, Elizabeth Quay 
will provide housing and 
commercial opportunities 
for up to 1,400 residents 
and 10,000 workers. Its 
world-class facilities and 
picturesque location will 
draw up to four million 
visitors a year and deliver 
thousands of jobs in 
construction and future 
operations. 

17OVERVIEW

Note: These are estimated figures based on 
current projections.  
*This includes MRA investment only.

PROJECT 
EXPECTATIONS

Project Area

Expected Year of Completion 

$2.2 billion

400

1400

225 000 m2

2020+

$440 million

10 hectares

800

Investment Attraction

Government Investment*

Hotel Rooms

Resident Population

Dwellings

Commercial/Office/Retail

• Land sales are on track to return a significant portion 
of the State Government’s investment, with more than 
$90 million secured from the sale of the first four of 
nine development sites.   

 − Far East Consortium lodged a development 
application for a 28-storey mixed use development 
for Lots 9 and 10, including hotel, residential and 
ground floor retail and dining.

 − Selection of Brookfield Office Properties Pty Ltd 
as preferred proponent to develop two sites at 
the northern edge of the inlet (Lots 5 and 6) with 
potential for a mix of office, residential and retail 
development. The MRA is continuing negotiations 
and expects to finalise the sales contract by late 2015.

 − A roadshow and market sounding exercise in 
preparation for release of Lots 2 and 3 to market in 
July 2015 and commencement of the bid process.

• Design of the playground and the north eastern 
promenade food and beverage outlet were finalised to 
enable construction and delivery by late 2015.  

• Preferred operators were selected for three of the five 
food and beverage outlets. 

• BHP Billiton committed $10 million funding for 
development of the water park through their 
Community Development Program.

• From a highly competitive expression of interest 
process, artist Christian de Vietri’s work entitled  
Spanda was selected as the major public art piece for 
Elizabeth Quay.

World-class facilities and location will  
draw around four million visitors a year  
and deliver thousands of jobs



One of Australia’s most significant transit-oriented developments, Perth  
City Link is removing the barrier between Perth’s CBD and the entertainment 
district of Northbridge for the first time in more than 100 years. PERTH 

CITY 

18 OVERVIEW

LINK



Perth City Link is rapidly transforming the face of Perth, with 
the following major milestones achieved by the project’s 
public and private partners this year:
• Completion of works to a portion of Wellington Street, 

between Milligan and King Streets, to install substantial 
service infrastructure upgrades including power, water, 
sewer, gas and telecommunications to support the 
delivery of new buildings and build the overall capacity 
of the CBD. The City of Perth also completed streetscape 
enhancement works to this portion of Wellington Street.

• Selection of Minor International as preferred proponent 
for the development of two lots immediately east of the 
Perth Arena (Lots 2 and 3A). This will see the construction 
of a 250-room, 4.5 star AVANI hotel and more than 200 
one and two bedroom serviced apartments, as well as a 
range of hospitality and leisure uses.

• The designs for Yagan Square - the landmark public 
space within the Perth City Link project - were unveiled 
in November 2014. Yagan Square will celebrate Western 
Australian history, lifestyle, landscape and produce, 
and provide a window into Noongar culture through 
the strong Aboriginal narratives which will run through 
the space. The square will feature food markets, native 
gardens, a children’s play area, water feature, a range of 
event spaces, public art and a digital tower. 

• A development application for construction of Yagan 
Square was approved by the Minister for Planning in May 
2015, granting the MRA approval to undertake works 
onsite.

Perth City Link will create 
five new connections 
through the city; provide 
new residential, retail and 
commercial opportunities; 
and create high-quality 
public spaces for the 
community to enjoy.
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Note: These are estimated figures based on 
current projections.  
*This includes MRA, Public Transport 
Authority, and Perth Arena investment.
# Estimated

PROJECT 
EXPECTATIONS

Project Area

New workers

Expected Year of Completion 

$4 billion

3000

244 000 m2

4.4 hectares

13 500

2020+

$1.3 billion

13.5 hectares

1650

Investment Attraction

Government Investment*

Resident Population

Commercial/Office/Retail#

Dwellings

Public Open Space

• The amended Perth City Link Design Guidelines, 
which reinforce key design principles and 
development outcomes as well as facilitating the 
evolved vision for the project, were adopted by the 
MRA Board in May 2015.

• On behalf of Seven Entertainment Pty Ltd and Dexus 
Property Group, Leighton Properties progressed 
construction of the first four commercial buildings and 
public areas within the Kings Square precinct. These 
four buildings will deliver more than 60,000 square 
metres of A-grade commercial space and 2,800 square 
metres of retail space. When completed, the buildings 
will accommodate the offices of Shell Australia, HBF 
and John Holland.

• Leighton Properties also continued construction on 
the internal road reserve, 1,300 square metres of public 
open space and a pedestrian mall which will form 
part of the future east-west ‘City Walk’ pedestrian 
link between the Perth Arena and Yagan Square. In 
addition, a development application was submitted 
with the MRA for the first residential buildings (a 
43-49-storey twin-tower) within the Kings Square 
precinct. 

• The City Busport Alliance (Public Transport Authority, 
Brookfield Multiplex and BG&E) commenced works 
on the underground Perth Busport in July 2014, with 
construction due to be completed by mid-2016.

• A development application for a second bus entrance 
to the Perth Busport at Wellington Street was approved 
by the MRA Board in December 2014. The Wellington 
Street entry will return operational benefits to the road 
and bus network, particularly at the western end of 
Wellington Street and within the vicinity of the Perth 
Arena.Perth City Link will create new connections  

through the city and  high-quality public 
spaces for the community to enjoy



Riverside is transforming the eastern gateway to the city by  
creating a new commercial, retail, living, entertainment  
and recreation precinct on the banks of the Swan River. RIVERSIDE
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Development of the Riverside project continued this year 
with key milestones including:
• The acquisition of the 5,335 square metre Lot 101 Hay 

Street site, formerly known as Chemlabs, in February 
2015 and the commencement of demolition of the 
redundant buildings and works to prepare the site for 
development. 

• WA property developer Diploma Properties Pty Ltd was 
selected to transform the former Chemlabs site into a 
new mixed use development comprising a 1,500 square 
metre-plus supermarket and a 16-storey tower with over 
200 apartments.

• Completion of road realignment works on Nelson 
Crescent which were required to finalise land exchange 
agreements with the adjoining landowners, the Western 
Australian Cricket Association (WACA) and Trinity 
College. 

• Site works commencing to facilitate extensions to the 
existing educational establishment at Trinity College, 
being a new gym, refurbishment of the existing gym and 
new classrooms.

The project will capitalise on 
the area’s natural beauty and 
cultural significance, with 
major international sporting 
venues the West Australian 
Cricket Association (WACA) 
and Gloucester Park already 
a drawcard, as well as the 
Crown Complex and new 
Perth Stadium across the 
river and the soon to be 
developed East Perth Power 
Station nearby.
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Note: These are estimated figures based on 
current projections.  
*This includes MRA investment only.

PROJECT 
EXPECTATIONS

Project Area

Expected Year of Completion 

$2 billion

7,000

94 000 m2

6000

2020+

$133 million

40 hectares

4,000

Investment Attraction

Government Investment*

New Population

Commercial/Office/Retail

New Dwellings

New Workers (up to)

• Continued work with the Waterbank precinct 
developer, Lend Lease, to finalise commercial matters 
and facilitate project approvals for the development 
of the $1 billion precinct. Surcharging works were 
completed at the site which will enable Lend Lease to 
start construction of the first buildings and public realm 
in 2015-16.    

The Queens Riverside development by Frasers Property 
Australia also progressed in 2014-15 with:
• Construction completed on the second of four new 

towers, QIII, in September 2014 delivering 265 new 
apartments.

• Construction nearing completion on the third tower, 
QII, featuring 107 apartments. 

• Construction commenced on QI, a 126-apartment 
building with activated ground floor retail.

The project will create a 
cosmopolitan waterfront 
destination capitalising  
on new and existing  
sporting precincts



PERTH 
CULTURAL  
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CENTRE
Home to Western Australia’s most significant cultural and 
learning institutions, the Perth Cultural Centre has been 
transformed by the MRA into one of Perth’s most visited 
public and event spaces, where people from all ages and 
backgrounds interact, discover and enjoy. 



• More than 1,200 performances and events were held  
in the Perth Cultural Centre during 2014-15 hosted 
by the MRA, the resident institutions and hundreds 
of event organisers. These included the first ice-
skating rink in the city, the OnWilliam Christmas 
Night Markets, return of the successful Fringe World 
festival, and the inaugural Night Noodle Markets, 
each attracting thousands of people to rediscover the 
cultural heart of Perth. 

• In continuing to engage a diverse and varied  
audience, the Perth Cultural Centre also hosted 
a number of events and activities that inspired 
creativity and generated interest amongst the wider 
community. These included the popular Food Truck 
Rumble, children’s arts festival - AWESOME, the 
Revealed Marketplace which showcased 25 of WA’s 
regional and urban Indigenous art centres, and the 
ANZAC Centenary event with activities that focused 
on reflection, gratitude and education of the  
ANZAC legacy.

• The MRA continued to manage the leases of  
28 retailers in 16 buildings on William Street as  
part of its award-winning regeneration of the  
heritage-listed area. The precinct features an  
eclectic mix of independent retailers, small bars, 
restaurants and creative industries as well as a  
number of pop-up tenancies.

• Lot 404 William Street, a two-storey character 
building on 279 square metres of land, was sold and 
settled in August 2014.  

• Strong interest from both commercial operators and 
arts driven enterprises were received for Rechabites 
Hall during the competitive expression of interest 
process in late 2014. A contract with the preferred 
proponent to redevelop the site is expected to be 
finalised in late 2015. 

• Following a competitive expression of  
interest process in late 2014, the Perth Hostel  
will be refurbished and leased for student 

accommodation. The works are expected to be 
completed early in 2016. 

• Construction of the 73-room Alex Hotel was 
completed and commenced operations in May 2015. 
Alex Hotel is providing a much-needed boost to 
Perth’s hotel market and adds to the vibrancy and 
cultural identity of William Street.

• Following the success of introducing new food and 
beverage ‘pods’ into the Perth Cultural Centre, the 
MRA extended its leasing arrangements to a host 
of food vans and pop-up stalls to support events 
and draw more visitors to the area to eat, relax and 
enjoy the space. In the past year, approximately 
80 operators have trialled a residency in the Perth 
Cultural Centre with varying offerings. 

• The contract of sale for Lot 103 William Street  
was unconditional and settlement took place  
in June 2015. 

• Continuing to work with other State Government 
agencies to plan delivery of a new museum for 
Western Australia.
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Note:  *This includes MRA, the new WA 
Museum and other government investment.

PROJECT 
EXPECTATIONS

$490 million

8.5 hectares

Government Investment*

Project Area

The Perth Cultural Centre is a 
favourite city destination and 
has become an increasingly 
popular events venue for 
independent operators. 
The following major 
milestones were achieved 
by the project’s public and 
private partners this year.
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The new Chinatown will be a 
true celebration of Chinese 
culture, bustling by day and 
coming to life at night

The historic Chinatown area in Northbridge is undergoing a major facelift, with a $2 million commitment 
from the State Government helping to transform this culturally significant area into an exciting destination 
for families, locals and tourists. 

CHINATOWN
*This includes MRA investment only.

PROJECT 
EXPECTATIONS

$2 million
Government Investment*

The MRA, together with the City of Perth and private 
landowners, is revitalising the area in a way that celebrates 
and enhances the unique character of Chinatown.

• The first Chinatown revitalisation works were completed 
in 2014, and included an entry statement, road painting, 
lanterns, decking and screening featuring the ‘lucky  
cloud’ motif.  

• In April 2015, local and international artists undertook 
medium and large scale murals along 12 walls within the 
Chinatown precinct as part of the FORM PUBLIC festival, 
supported by the MRA.

• Further temporary lighting and seating was implemented 
in the latter part of the 2014-15 financial year.  
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No capital works were undertaken in the Claisebrook 
Village area in 2014-15, however the MRA continued 
activities including:
• Attracting more than $12 million of private 

investment through determination of two 
development applications.

• Following a 10-year residency in East Perth, the 
Men of the Trees not-for-profit organisation 
renewed their long-term, low-rent agreement 
with the MRA to continue the successful City 
Farm operation.

One of Perth’s earliest large-scale inner city urban 
regeneration projects, Claisebrook Village transformed 
an industrial wasteland into a modern waterfront urban 
village combining high quality residential, commercial 
and retail development with beautiful parklands, 
waterways and public art. 

CLAISEBROOK 
VILLAGE

Note: These are estimated figures based on 
current projections.     
* This includes MRA investment only.  
Government investment represents past 
investment over the project lifecycle and is not 
necessarily indicative of capital works funding 
from 2014-15.

PROJECT 
EXPECTATIONS

Project Area

Expected Year of Completion 

$685 million

2 500

130 000m2

6 000

2015+

$127 million

137.5 hectares

1450

Investment Attraction

Government Investment*

New Population

Commercial/Office/Retail

New Dwellings

New Workers

Redevelopment of 
Claisebrook Village is  
85 per cent complete with 
planning control for most 
of the redevelopment area 
returned to the City of Perth 
for ongoing management. 

A vibrant waterfront village in what was 
once an industrial wasteland, Claisebrook 
Village has become known as a model for 
urban renewal
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New Northbridge is now home to a variety of housing 
options, as well as new shops, cafes and restaurants nestled 
amongst converted heritage buildings, cultural spaces and 
attractive streetscapes.
Started in 2000, New Northbridge is 70 per cent complete, 
with planning control returned to the local government. 
2014-15 was a year of consolidation for the remainder of the 
project, with highlights including:

The nationally award winning New 
Northbridge project is one of Perth’s greatest 
urban regeneration success stories. NEW 

NORTHBRIDGE

Note: These are estimated figures based on 
current projections.  
*This includes MRA investment only.

PROJECT 
EXPECTATIONS

Project Area

Expected Year of Completion 

$300 million

1250

70000m2

3500

2015+

$60 million

27 hectares

460

Investment Attraction

Government Investment*

New Population

Commercial/Office/Retail

New Dwellings

New Workers

The project has 
successfully transformed 
a corridor of land left 
vacant following the 
construction of the 
Northbridge Tunnel, into 
a thriving residential and 
business community. 

• Sale and settlement of Lot 323 Aberdeen Street, a 
heritage character building and one of the MRA’s 
remaining assets in New Northbridge.

• Completion of significant mixed use developments on 
Newcastle Street and Lindsay Street, contributing 152 
new dwellings to the project as well as 46 hotel rooms 
and new offices, shops and restaurants at street level. 
The developments will also deliver long term rental 
units to ensure rental housing supply is maintained.

• The WA branch of National Disabilities Services (NDS) 
signed a two-year lease for use of the Union Bakery 
building, the MRA’s former head office at 12 Lindsay 
Street. The NDS will maintain the building’s heritage 
conservation plan. 

This is an exciting project 
that has already spanned 
more than a decade and 
continues to attract 
investment into the area
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A key objective for the MRA is to ensure that any future 
development on the site appropriately celebrates, retains 
and adapts the heritage values of the power station for 
contemporary use.
• In September 2014, the Premier and Minister for 

Lands announced a program of property asset sales 
including 20 sites, one of which was the East Perth 
Power Station. The MRA is managing the release and 
sale of the site on behalf of the State Government. 

• The former power station site was released to 
market in February 2015 in the first step of a long 
planning process for the site. The former power 
station building is an important heritage icon and 
following the expression of interest period, which 
closed in April 2015, planning documentation is 
being reviewed to ensure a quality outcome for the 
site can be achieved. 

The 8.5hectare East Perth Power Station site will be transformed into a new 
riverfront destination with commercial, retail, residential and recreational 
opportunities that engage the picturesque Swan River. 

EAST PERTH 
POWER STATION

Note: These are estimated figures based on 
current projections.  
*This includes MRA investment only.

PROJECT 
EXPECTATIONS

Project Area

Expected Year of Completion 

$345 million

2400

33 600m2

1100

2020+

$100 million

8.5 hectares

1400

Investment Attraction

Government Investment*

New Population

Commercial/Office/Retail

New Dwellings

New Workers

This will be a pedestrian-
friendly area with 
exceptional accessibility 
to major arterial roads, rail 
networks, cycleways and 
water transport. 

Our revitalisation project will celebrate 
the area’s rich history and stunning 
location on Perth’s eastern waterfront
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At the gateway to the Perth Hills 
and Swan Valley, the Midland 
Redevelopment Area covers over 
160 hectares of land encompassing 
the area in and around the former 
Midland Railway Workshops and 
the Midland city centre.

MIDLAND 

AREA
REDEVELOPMENT 
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Our vision for Midland is to create 
a thriving city centre that attracts 
people to Perth’s eastern corridor
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We are working to conserve and reinvigorate The Workshops so they can 
again be a driver of the local economy and community. We are embracing 
Midland’s past to create a better future



The urban renewal of Midland has been underway since  
2000, with the project expected to deliver 7,000 new 
residential dwellings, 18,300 new jobs and more than  
$1.7 billion of combined Government and private  
investment attraction to the area. 

MIDLAND
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• A new Midland Master Plan was adopted by the  
MRA Board providing a strategic direction for  
the Midland Redevelopment project over the next 
10-15 years. 

• The Midland Redevelopment Area was extended to 
encompass additional land north of the rail line.

• Public consultation of the draft Midland 
Redevelopment Scheme and draft Midland Design 
Guidelines was undertaken. These documents will 
form the new statutory planning framework for 
Midland and enable implementation of the master 
plan vision. 

• Twelve lots on Platingshop Terrace, adjacent to 
the Helena River foreshore and The Workshops, 
are under contract with WA builder Bermen 
Developments. Construction is expected to begin in 
late 2015. 

• Sale and settlement of Lot 801 Helena Street to 
Sterlink Developments for a mixed use development 
including 70 apartments on the upper floors with 
cafes and offices on the ground floor.

• The former Midland Saleyards site was released to 
the market in November 2014 seeking a suitable 
developer to deliver a large format retail/commercial/
light industrial development. Liaison is ongoing with 
shortlisted proponents with a preferred proponent 
expected to be selected by the end of 2015.

• Subdivision approval and award of a works contract 
for land adjacent to The Workshops buildings. These 
works will include upgrades to Clayton Street, 
adjacent to the new hospital, and the creation of a 
new development site behind The Workshops.

• Subdivision approval for Railway Square to enable 
development of significant public open space and 
adjoining mixed used development.

• Commencement of remediation earthworks at the 
Western Paddock.

• Announcement of a new Curtin University medical 
school to be built adjacent to The Workshops and the 
new hospital. Federal Government funding has been 
committed with the State Government to provide 
$22 million towards the project. Site planning is 
underway, in collaboration with Curtin University.

• The MRA coordinated the Midland ANZAC 
Commemorative Service at The Workshops attended 
by approximately 700 people of all ages. At the 
conclusion of the service, the annual Stan Gurney 
V.C. Memorial Bike Race was held.

This year represented a 
period of renewed focus 
for the Midland project, 
with a number of key 
highlights.

Note: These are estimated figures based on 
current projections.  
*This includes MRA investment only.

PROJECT 
EXPECTATIONS

Project Area

Expected Year of Completion 

$1.2 billion

14000

18300

116 000 m2

2025+

$500 million

150 hectares

7000

Investment Attraction

Government Investment*

New Population

New Workers

New Dwellings

New Hospital
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Midland is a major employment destination 
with a high degree of self-sufficiency.  
The Master Plan can deliver an attractive, 
affordable, productive and sustainable city 
living environment beside the rivers in the 
eastern corridor



The Armadale Redevelopment 
Area, comprised of the Armadale 
and Wungong Urban projects, 
covers 2,045 hectares of land 
and represents more than $400 
million of government investment, 
including Developer Contribution 
Scheme funding, with expected 
private investment attraction of  
$1.2 billion. 

ARMADALE 

AREA
REDEVELOPMENT 
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This is one of WA’s largest 
and most ambitious  
urban renewal projects
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Wungong Urban
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In 2014-15, the MRA approved 343 development 
applications with a total estimated value of $226  
million within the Armadale Redevelopment Area.  
Armadale’s transformation realised several major 
milestones this year:
• LandCorp and Hitachi Construction Machinery 

(Australia) Pty Ltd commenced development of their 
sites at Forrestdale Business Park. 

• Refurbishment of the historic Armadale Post Office 
building on Jull Street was completed and is now 
occupied by the MRA as its Armadale office. This 
iconic building was refurbished maintaining the 
heritage façade while providing staff a modern and 
functional work environment. 

• Completion of works for the Ranford Road upgrade 
providing a dual carriageway from Armadale Road to 
Tonkin Highway. 

• The revised City Centre, West of Railway Structure  
Plan was released for public comment in May 2015. 
The plan aims to facilitate higher density residential 
and mixed use development and create improved 
public transport links between the city centre and 
the surrounding areas.

Armadale’s regeneration is one of the State’s largest and most ambitious urban renewal projects. 
The redevelopment has already created enormous opportunities for the region and delivered new 
residential, commercial and civic infrastructure for the fast-growing south east metropolitan corridor. 
Since 2012-13, the MRA 
has determined 735 
development applications 
with a total estimated value 
of $380 million within the 
Armadale Redevelopment 
Area.

Note: These are estimated figures based on 
current projections.  
*This includes MRA investment only.

PROJECT 
EXPECTATIONS

Project Area

New Workers

$477 million

3 890

2 504 000 m2

20 000

2020+

$163 million

465 hectares

1150

Investment Attraction

Government Investment*

New Population

Commercial/Office/Retail

New Dwellings

Expected Year of Completion

• Planning for the Champion Lakes Commercial 
Precinct is underway, with a preliminary master 
plan and business case expected in 2016.

• The MRA is continuing to work with the City of 
Armadale, Public Transport Authority and Main 
Roads WA to plan for the future of the Kelmscott 
Town Centre with a preliminary master plan and 
business case expected in 2016.

ARMADALE
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The award-winning Wungong Urban project, located three  
kilometres west of the Armadale city centre, showcases sustainable 
urban design and best practice water management and design. 

WUNGONG 
URBAN
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Note: These are estimated figures based on 
current projections.  
*This includes MRA Developer Contribution 
Scheme funded capital works.

PROJECT 
EXPECTATIONS

New Dwellings

$265 million

2020+

1580 hectares

18000

45 000

Developer Contribution Scheme

Project Area

Expected Year of Completion

New Population

This environmentally-
sensitive development 
will provide up to 18,000 
new residential homes 
for 40,000 people, a 
town centre and new 
schools set amongst 
high quality public open 
spaces, living streams 
and a significant regional 
recreational ground. 

Significant progress was achieved on this vast project in 2014-15:
• Approval of 204 development applications with a total 

estimated value of $61 million.
• Completion of preliminary road design has increased 

developer certainty and provides a sound basis for road 
and drainage construction into 2015-16. 

• The water quality monitoring program is fast becoming 
best management practice with the issuing of the MRA’s 
second annual water report.

• Strong development activity with several new and 
amended structure plans. Wallis’ Springtime estate is 
now selling two precincts; PEET has released  
Stage 3 of its The Avenue development and Terra  
Novis’ Canterfield is open for registrations of interest. 

• Structure planning of Wungong Regional Recreation 
Ground progressed with preliminary environmental, 
engineering and heritage studies providing influence 
on the anticipated innovative and environmentally 
sensitive design.  

• A recycled wastewater irrigation scheme received 
approval from the Department of Water, Department of 
Health and Department for Environment.  

• Completion of a review of the Wungong Developer 
Contribution Scheme, including peer review of existing 
local authority and interstate schemes. Changes were 
adopted in the administration of the scheme, reducing 
uncertainty for developers.

Wungong Urban has become 
recognised as a national 
model in environmentally 
sustainable design. We have 
achieved this through very 
careful management of the 
area’s natural resources and 
water-sensitive practices
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The revitalisation of the 
Scarborough Redevelopment 
Area will transform the area into a 
vibrant hub of activity for people 
of all ages to enjoy at all times of 
the year. The urban renewal of 
this major tourist beach will help 
the area fulfil its potential to be 
one of Australia’s best beachfront 
destinations.  

AREA

SCARBOROUGH 
REDEVELOPMENT Our revitalisation project aims  

to create an exciting new 
destination for everyone to enjoy
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Scarborough Beach is one of 
Perth’s most iconic beaches 
and a hallmark of WA’s 
famous beach culture



In addition to delivering a range of foreshore improvements, the MRA will 
work with the private sector and landowners to facilitate development on 
key sites, bringing more residential, commercial, retail, food and beverage 
and hotel options to Scarborough.

SCARBOROUGH
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• Feature lighting installed at the iconic clock tower 
and amphitheatre.

• A Memorandum of Understanding was executed 
in December 2014 to formalise the working 
relationship between the City of Stirling and the 
MRA for planning, delivery and future functioning 
of the Scarborough Redevelopment Area. 

• The Interim Redevelopment Scheme was gazetted 
in July 2014 transferring planning control for the 
100hectare Scarborough Redevelopment Area to the 
MRA.

• Finalisation of the Scarborough Master Plan. 
Centered around four beachfront destinations, 
the MRA has developed a plan that will catalyse 
investment in the area, help realise Scarborough’s 
potential as one of Australia’s best beaches and 
create a vibrant visitor precinct for people of all ages 
to enjoy at all times of the year. 

In its second full project 
year, a number of milestones 
were reached in the 
Scarborough project.
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Note: These are estimated figures based on 
current projections.  
*City of Stirling

PROJECT 
EXPECTATIONS

Project Area

$30 million

$27.4 million

100 hectares

Investment Attraction

Local Government Investment*

• A design consortium was appointed for the project 
following an open and competitive tender process. 

• Development approval was granted to TPG Town 
Planning, Urban Design and Heritage for an eight-
storey mixed use development on the corner 
of Brighton Road and Hastings Street in March 
2015. The development comprises a total of 99 
apartments and café. 

• The MRA supported a number of events in 
Scarborough including the City of Stirling’s 
successful Summerset Arts Festival, the WA 
Volleyball Open and Volleyball Australia National 
Beach Volleyball Series.

The revitalised Scarborough will be a safe and  
vibrant destination for everyone, at any time of the 
year. Tourists, families, workers and the rest of  
Perth can meet to eat, drink, swim and play by the 
stunning Indian Ocean



Recognised internationally as one 
of Australia’s best urban renewal 
projects, the Subiaco Redevelopment 
Area has transformed more than 80 
hectares of largely derelict industrial 
land into a vibrant, transit-oriented, 
sustainable extension of the existing 
Subiaco community on the doorstep 
of Perth’s CBD.

SUBIACO 

AREA
REDEVELOPMENT 
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Recognised as one of Australia’s best urban  renewal 
projects the Subi Centro project has breathed new life 
into Subiaco, building on the area’s existing urban 
fabric and rich history to create a new, cosmopolitan 
way of living

Hood Street

Centro North

Australian Fine China (AFC)
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More than 86 per cent of the Subi Centro Redevelopment 
Area has been completed with planning control returned 
to the City of Subiaco for ongoing management. 

SUBI  
CENTRO
Work on the remaining 
areas, including the 
Australian Fine China (AFC), 
Hood Street, Carter Lane 
and Centro North precincts, 
continues with several 
milestone achievements 
delivered this year.

• Development approval was granted to Rowe Group for  
the City of Subiaco’s Carter Lane development in 
November 2014. The approval was for earthworks, 
landscape and streetscape works to create 13 new lots, 
roads, footpaths, landscaping and public open space. 
Stage 1 earthworks are underway, with landscaping and 
streetscape works pending.  

• Construction continued on the first of two residential 
developments by Pindan, in conjunction with Otan 
Property Funds Management, to deliver over 198 
residential units within the AFC precinct.    

• Construction of new residential and retail 
developments by Pindan and QUBE Property Group 
within the Centro North precinct was completed, 
linking Station Square with the facilities to the north 
including St John of God Hospital. 

• Construction of the new residential and commercial 
development by Blackburne Property Group on 
Roydhouse Street was completed while Finbar’s  
‘The Strand’ development is nearing completion, 
providing a mix of commercial and retail as well as 
residential and a public access way connecting  
Roydhouse and Hood Streets.

• The MRA granted development approval to Windsor 
Knight Pty Ltd for development of the Station Street 
Markets site in April 2015. The four-storey development 
on the corner of Station and Hood streets comprises 
two levels of basement parking, a supermarket, 

department store and retail spaces on the ground and first 
floor, and office space over the second and third floor.  

• At the AFC precinct, the MRA sold three lots to Puresilver 
Corp, a subsidiary of US parent company Sentinel Real 
Estate Corporation. The three residential developments 
will include more than 170 dwellings which are set 
to provide long term rental housing. A development 
application has been received for the first residential 
development comprising 93 dwellings.

Note: These are estimated figures based on 
current projections.  
*This includes MRA investment only.

PROJECT 
EXPECTATIONS

Project Area

Expected Year of Completion 

$1 billion

3 600

287 000 m2

6 800

2019

$200 million

84.5 hectares

1975

Investment Attraction

Government Investment*

New Population

Commercial/Office/Retail

New Dwellings

New Workers



AT A GLANCE
PROJECT LIFE STATISTICS 
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Note: These figures are per 2015-16 Annual Budget (Approved). Totals may differ due to rounding. 
* This includes MRA and other government investment.  
** Inclusive of Developer Contribution Scheme.  Government investment represents past investment over the project lifecycle and is not necessarily indicative of capital works 
funding from 2014-15.

PROJECT TOTAL LAND GOVERNMENT 
INVESTMENT ($) 

INVESTMENT 
ATTRACTION ($)

TOTAL

Perth City Link  13.5ha $1.3 billion* $4 billion $5.3 billion

Riverside 40ha $133 million $2 billion $2.13 billion

Elizabeth Quay 10ha $440 million $2.2 billion $2.64 billion

Perth Cultural Centre 8.5ha $490 million* -- $490 million

Midland 150ha $500 million* $1.2 billion $1.7 billion

Armadale 465ha $163 million ** $477 million $640 million

Wungong Urban 1,580ha $265 million ** $750 million $1 billion

Chinatown -- $2 million -- $2 million

Scarborough 100ha $57.4 million* -- $57.4 million

New Northbridge 27ha $60 million $300 million $360 million

Subi Centro 84.5ha $200 million* $1 billion $1.2 billion

Claisebrook Village 137.5ha $127 million $685 million $812 million

East Perth Power Station 8.5ha $100 million $345 million $445 million

TOTAL 2,624.5ha $3.84 billion $12.96 billion $16.80billion



SIGNIFICANT ISSUES 
IMPACTING THE AGENCY
With the population of the Perth and Peel region expected to reach 3.5 million people by 20501, it is clear that 
servicing the needs of this scale of population growth requires a focus on infill development, specifically the 
concentration of housing and jobs around public transport and activity centres.

The State Government has set a residential infill 
development density target at 47 per cent by 20502  and - 
with the current achievement rate of 28 per cent - the MRA 
continues to be responsive and forward thinking when 
assessing the needs of the metropolitan Perth population 
to ensure it designs sustainable and ‘future-proofed’ 
communities that can cater for the forecasted strong,  
long-term population growth.

Western Australia’s need for more affordable housing 
options3 continued in 2014-15, driving the MRA’s ongoing 
commitment to finding solutions to delivering affordable 
dwellings. By employing an industry-leading approach 
to integrated supply of affordable housing options 
through planning policies and sales contracts, the 
MRA’s redevelopment areas continued to embed social 
sustainability and contribute to the State Affordable 
Housing Strategy. 

As demand stabilised through 2014-15, the Perth city hotel 
accommodation market softened yet it still remains one of 
the strongest performing CBD hotel markets in Australia 
with occupancy rates in 2014 at 85.6 per cent4. 

In 2015, approximately 193 rooms are expected to come 
onto the Perth hotel market following the completion of 
the Alex Hotel (within the MRA’s William Street Precinct), 
Quest on Mounts Bay Road and the Old Treasury Building.  
In 2016, the Perth market will see a further 800 hotel 
rooms come online with the completion of Crown Towers, 
Quest Kings Park and Ibis in East Perth. The MRA remains 
committed to delivering new hotel accommodation to 
meet the future needs of metropolitan Perth including the 
AVANI Hotel and Residences within Perth City Link and 
The Ritz-Carlton hotel at Elizabeth Quay.

With many major resources projects nearing completion in 
2015, and the combination of significantly lower iron ore 
prices, the demand for office accommodation in 2014-15 
and into the future has taken an unexpected turn. As of 
January 2015, the Perth office vacancy rate was high at  
15.2 per cent5 resulting in increasing incentives in the Perth 
CBD office market and putting downward pressure on 
rents. These trends in the Perth property market have been 
important considerations for the MRA in the positioning of 
future land releases. 

The MRA recognises the responsibility of its role as a 
driver of change in the landscape and culture of the 
Perth metropolitan area through the work underway in 
its redevelopment projects. The MRA continually strives 
for a higher level of sophistication and innovation in its 
operations, demonstrating a good understanding of the 
benefits of urban renewal and increased urban density and 
an increased focus on the social return on investments.

Increasingly cautious economic conditions and loss of 
State Government revenue from falling commodities 
prices does however frame the fiscal challenges the 
MRA faces in the delivery of social, environmental and 
economic outcomes across its projects. 

Diversifying approaches, considering new options and 
working collaboratively with the private sector underpins 
the MRA’s solutions-focus in these challenging times 
and assists its continued ability to drive and undertake 
infrastructure and development projects on behalf of 
the State Government to create a dynamic, vibrant and 
liveable city. 

1, 2, 3: Perth and Peel@3.5million: What will Perth and Peel look like in 2050? Western Australian Planning Commission, May 2015 http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/dop_pub_pdf/pp_summary.pdf | 4: Tourism WA, Perth Hotel Performance & Development Pipeline 
Summary (Data from STR Global) – May 2015 | 5: Property Council of Australia January 2015
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ORGANISATIONAL 
STRUCTURE The organisational chart  

below represents the MRA’s 
reporting structure.

Minister for Planning

Board

Chief Executive Officer

Audit and Risk CommitteeArmadale Land Redevelopment 
Committee

Central Perth Land 
Redevelopment Committee

Midland Land Redevelopment 
Committee

Scarborough Land 
Redevelopment Committee

Subiaco Land Redevelopment 
Committee

Executive Director 
Planning

Executive Director 
Project Delivery

Executive Director Place 
Management

Executive Director 
Corporate Services
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Mr Richard Muirhead, Chairperson 
Mr Richard Muirhead is the Chairperson of the MRA Board and is the 
Principal of Spiral Consulting which he has operated since January 
2012. Over that period, Mr Muirhead has worked for a range of both 
corporate and government clients on different projects. He was 
contracted into the role of State Director National Commemorative 

Events in which he developed and managed the WA Government’s contribution to the 
ANZAC Centenary. Mr Muirhead has extensive experience as an executive and chief 
executive officer for the WA Government. From July 2010 to November 2011,  
Mr Muirhead was the State Director for Commonwealth Heads of Government Meeting 
(CHOGM) assisting the Commonwealth in staging the international event and developing 
initiatives to promote Western Australia, assist local business and encourage community 
participation. Prior to CHOGM, Mr Muirhead held the position of Chief Executive Officer 
of Tourism WA for eight years and the (former) Department of Commerce and Trade 
from 1997 to 2001. He has been the Chairperson of the MRA since January 2013 and was 
appointed as Chairperson of Venues West in July 2015.

Mr Jeff Dowling, Deputy Chairperson
Mr Jeff Dowling is Deputy Chairperson of the MRA Board and 
Chairperson of the MRA’s Audit and Risk Committee and Subiaco 
Land Redevelopment Committee. A retired managing partner of the 
Ernst & Young Western Region and highly experienced corporate 
leader with 36 years’ experience in professional consultancy,  

Mr Dowling has held numerous leadership positions at Ernst & Young and his expertise 
centres around audit, risk and financial transactions. Mr Dowling is a Fellow of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors, the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
Australia and the Financial Services Institute of Australasia. Mr Dowling holds a 
directorship of Sirius Resources NL, Atlas Iron Ltd, NRW Ltd and PuraVida NL. Mr Dowling 
also holds a board position for the Telethon Kids Institute.

Mr Charles Johnson, Board Member
Mr Charles Johnson is a member of the MRA Board, Chairperson of 
the MRA’s Central Perth Land Redevelopment Committee and was the 
former Chairperson of the Armadale Redevelopment Authority.  
He has a background in urban geography and town planning, with 
over 30 years’ experience working in Local and State Government 

as well as a period in private consultancy. Mr Johnson is currently the principal of his 
planning consultancy, President of the Planning Institute of Australia (WA Division) and 
Presiding Member of the Joint Central Metropolitan Development Assessment Panel.

BOARD AND 
COMMITTEES 

BOARD 
As a Statutory Authority of the State Government of Western Australia, the MRA 
is governed by a Board who is appointed by and answerable to the Minister for 
Planning. The MRA Board sets the strategic direction of the MRA and monitors its 
performance.  

The Board comprises seven members, each appointed by the Minister for Planning 
for a term no longer than three years. Members are eligible for reappointment.

The Board’s key functions are:
• Strategy
• Monitoring 
• Risk Management 
• Compliance 

The Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Act 2011 requires that of the seven Board 
members:
• one is to be an appointed member of the Board or management of the Western 

Australian Planning Commission (WAPC) nominated by the WAPC;
• one member, who in the opinion of the Minister, has knowledge of or experience in 

local government; and 
• each of the others is to be a person who, in the opinion of the Minister, has relevant 

qualifications. 

A relevant qualification is knowledge of, and experience in, one or more of the 
fields of urban planning, business management, property development, financial 
management, engineering, transport, housing and community affairs. Board 
members are remunerated according to Public Sector Commission guidelines. 
Those members who are public servants are not remunerated. Eleven Board 
meetings were held in the 2014-15 year.
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Ms Fiona Kalaf, Board Member
Ms Fiona Kalaf is a member of the MRA Board and Chairperson of 
the MRA’s Scarborough Land Redevelopment Committee. Ms Kalaf 
has wide-ranging business experience, working in senior executive 
positions for high profile organisations in Western Australia and 
currently holds the position of Chief Executive Officer of Lifeline 

WA. Ms Kalaf also has considerable board and committee experience, including her 
current role as Director of Australian Institute of Management WA and previous roles 
with the Central Perth Planning Committee, the Chairperson of the Art Gallery of 
Western Australia, the UWA Advisory Board to the Lawrence Wilson Art Gallery and the 
Australasian Institute of Banking and Finance.

Mayor Carol Adams, Board Member
Mayor Carol Adams is a member of the MRA Board and Chairperson 
of the MRA’s Armadale Land Redevelopment Committee. Elected 
as a Councillor to the Town of Kwinana in May 1997, Mayor Adams 
served as Deputy from 2005 to 2006 before being elected as the first 
female Mayor to the Town in May 2006 where she has successfully 

held this position since that time with her current term expiring in 2017. Mayor Adams is 
a member of the South West Metropolitan Zone and a WALGA State Council delegate. In 
addition, she is the metropolitan member for the WA Grants Commission, Chairperson 
of the Kwinana Early Years’ Service Inc., member of the Gilmore College Independent 
School Board, Moorditj Koort Aboriginal Corporation, and Citizen Advice Bureau Kwinana 
Branch. 

 

Mr Nick Bruining, Board Member 
Mr Nick Bruining is a member of the MRA Board, Chairperson of the 
MRA’s Midland Land Redevelopment Committee, and a member 
of the MRA Audit and Risk Committee. He is the Principal of N.C. 
Bruining & Associates. Also a freelance journalist, commentator 
and broadcaster, Mr Bruining is a former director of the Financial 
Planning Association of Australia Ltd.

Mr Eric Lumsden, Board Member
Mr Eric Lumsden is a member of the MRA Board, member of the  
MRA Audit and Risk Committee and is currently the Chairperson 
of the Western Australian Planning Commission with his previous 
position being Director General of the Department of Planning.  
With more than 30 years’ experience in local government,  
Mr Lumsden has previously held positions as Chief Executive  

Officer of the City of Melville and City of Swan, Commissioner of the City of South 
Perth and Chairperson of the Council of Swan TAFE and Eastern Metropolitan Regional 
Councils CEO Group. Mr Lumsden is a Life Fellow of the Planning Institute of Australia, 
Fellow of the Australian Institute of Management, Fellow and past President of the Local 
Government Managers Association (WA Division) and a Fellow of the IPAAWA. In 2005,  
Mr Lumsden was awarded the Public Service Medal for his contribution to Local 
Government and a place on the Queen’s Birthday Honours List.

Position Members as at 30 June 2015 Meetings attended Type of Remuneration Period of Membership Actual Remuneration

Chairperson Mr Richard Muirhead 10 Per Annum Expiry 31 December 2015 $53,550.00

Deputy Chairperson Mr Jeff Dowling 10 Per Annum Expiry 31 December 2015 $40,163.00

Member Mr Charles Johnson 10 Per Annum Expiry 31 December 2016 $33,650.00

Member Ms Fiona Kalaf 9 Per Annum Expiry 31 December 2016 $33,650.00

Member Mayor Carol Adams 11 Per Annum Expiry 31 December 2015 $33,650.00

Member Mr Nick Bruining 10 Per Annum Expiry 31 December 2015 $33,650.00

Member Mr Eric Lumsden 10 Per Annum Expiry 31 December 2016 $33,650.00
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REMUNERATION | BOARD | Meetings held in 2014-15 year: 11
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COMMITTEES 
Audit and Risk Committee  
The MRA Board has an Audit and Risk Committee 
that addresses issues particular to the roles and 
responsibilities assigned by the Board to the 
Committee. Principally, these relate to financial and 
risk issues that present for the MRA. Four Audit and 
Risk Committee meetings were held in the 2014-15 
year. Audit and Risk Committee members are not 
remunerated.

Land Redevelopment Committees
The five Land Redevelopment Committees (LRCs) for 
Armadale, Central Perth, Midland, Scarborough and 
Subiaco have planning powers delegated by the MRA 
Board and provide advice on local matters.  

The Act provides that a Land Redevelopment Committee 
(LRC) consists of five members appointed by the Minister 
of whom:
• one is to be a member of the MRA’s Board of 

management nominated by the MRA;
• one is to be a person nominated in accordance with 

section 81 of the Act; and
• each of the others is to be a person who in the opinion 

of the Minister has relevant qualifications. 

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE | Meetings held in 2014-15 year: 4

REMUNERATION | CENTRAL PERTH LAND REDEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE | Meetings held in 2014-15 year: 5

Position Members as at 30 June 2015 Meetings attended

Chairperson Mr Jeff Dowling 4
Member (as of November 2014 meeting) Mr Eric Lumsden 2
Member Mr Nick Bruining 4

Position Former Member Meetings attended

Deputy Chairperson Ms Fiona Kalaf 1

Ms Kalaf resigned after the August 2014 meeting, attending one of the meetings she was eligible to attend. The first meeting Mr Lumsden was eligible to attend was November 
2014 and he attended two out of the three meetings he was eligible to attend.

Position Members as at  
30 June 2015

Meetings 
attended

Type of 
Remuneration

Period of  
Membership

Actual 
Remuneration

Chairperson Mayor Carol Adams 6 Per meeting Expiry 26 Aug 2015 $2,800

Deputy Chairperson Mr Clayton Higham 6 Per meeting Expiry 26 Aug 2015 $2,100

Member Mr Matthew Handcock 6 Per meeting Expiry 10 Mar 2016 $2,160

Member Mayor Henry Zelones 5 Per meeting Expiry 10 Mar 2016 $1,620

Member Ms Diana Wearing-Smith 6 Per meeting Expiry 19 May 2016 $2,160

Position Members as at  
30 June 2015

Meet ings 
attended

Type of 
Remuneration

Period of  
Membership

Actual 
Remuneration

Chairperson Mr Charles Johnson 4 Per meeting Expiry 27 May 2017 $2,000

Deputy Chairperson Mr Lino Iacomella 5 Per meeting Expiry 26 Aug 2015 $1,800

Member Lord Mayor Lisa Scaffidi 4 Per meeting Expiry 10 Mar 2016 $1,350

Member Prof. Geoffrey London 3 Per meeting Expiry 27 May 2017 $1,350

Member Ms Jennifer Duffecy 5 Per meeting Expiry 27 May 2017 $1,890

REMUNERATION | ARMADALE LAND REDEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE | Meetings held in 2014-15 year: 6



Land Redevelopment 
Committees (continued)
A relevant qualification is knowledge of, and 
experience in, one or more of the fields of urban 
planning, business management, property 
development, financial management, engineering, 
transport, housing and community affairs. 
Membership of the LRCs represent a cross-section of 
experience in local government, planning and urban 
renewal, and those with a strong understanding of 
the needs of local communities. Members of LRCs 
are appointed for a term no longer than two years 
and may be reappointed.
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REMUNERATION | MIDLAND LAND REDEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE | Meetings held in 2014-15 year: 5

REMUNERATION | SCARBOROUGH LAND REDEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE | Meetings held in 2014-15 year: 6

REMUNERATION | SUBIACO LAND REDEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE | Meetings held in 2014-15 year: 5

Ms Cathy Verrier resigned effective 31 December 2014. She attended one of the three meetings she was eligible to attend.
Ms Justine Colyer was appointed as a member effective 1 May 2015, no meetings were held after her appointment in this financial year. 
Mr Clayton Higham was appointed as Deputy Chair effective 14 May 2015.

* As per Premiers Circular 2010/02, Ms Stephanie Buckland and Mr David Thomson are not eligible for remuneration.

*It is noted that some members attended additional training sessions and therefore there is some variance in remuneration. These training sessions are not recorded as a 
committee meeting.

Position Members as at  
30 June 2015

Meet ings 
attended

Type of 
Remuneration

Period of  
Membership

Actual 
Remuneration

Chairperson Mr Nicholas Bruining 4 Per meeting Expiry 26 Aug 2015 $1,600

Deputy Chairperson Mr Clayton Highaam 5 Per meeting $1,410

Member Mr Brian Hunt 4 Per meeting Expiry 10 Mar 2016 $1,350

Member Mayor Charlie Zannino 5 Per meeting $1,620

Member Ms Justine Colyer 0 Per meeting $0

Position Former members Meet ings 
attended

Type of 
Remuneration

Period of  
Membership

Actual 
Remuneration

Deputy Chair Ms Cathy Verrier 1 Per meeting Expiry 26 Aug 2015 $300

Position Members as at  
30 June 2015

Meet ings 
attended

Type of 
Remuneration

Period of  
Membership

Actual 
Remuneration

Chairperson Ms Fiona Kalaf 4 Per meeting Expiry 26 Aug 2015 $1,600

Deputy Chairperson Ms Stephanie Buckland* 3 Per meeting Expiry 26 Aug 2015 $0

Member Cr David Boothman 6 Per meeting Expiry 26 Aug 2015 $1,620

Member Mr David Thomson* 6 Per meeting Expiry 26 Aug 2015  $0

Member Mr James Hewitt 3 Per meeting Expiry 26 Aug 2015 $1,080

Position Members as at  
30 June 2015

Meet ings 
attended

Type of 
Remuneration

Period of  
Membership

Actual 
Remuneration

Chairperson Mr Jeff Dowling 4 Per meeting Expiry 27 May 2017 $1,600

Deputy Chairperson Ms Karen Hyde 4 Per meeting Expiry 10 Mar 2016 $1,500

Member Cr Mark Burns 4 Per meeting Expiry 10 Mar 2016 $1,350

Member Mr Loren White 4 Per meeting Expiry 10 Mar 2016 $1,080

Member Mr David Hartree 4 Per meeting Expiry 19 May 2016 $1,080



OTHER KEY LEGISLATION 
IMPACTING ON THE MRA’S 
ACTIVITIES
• Auditor General Act 2006
• Building Act 2011
• Competition and Consumer Act 2010
• Construction Contracts Act 2004
• Contaminated Sites Act 2003
• Disability Services Act 1993
• Disability Discrimination Act 1992
• Environmental Protection Act 1986
• Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation 

Act 1999
• Equal Opportunity Act 1984
• Financial Management Act 2006
• Freedom of Information Act 1992
• Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990
• Industrial Relations Act 1979
• Land Administration Act 1997
• Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1960
• Main Roads Act 1930
• Occupational Health and Safety Act 1984
• Planning and Development Act 2005
• Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003
• Public Sector Management Act 1994
• Racial Discrimination Act 1975
• State Records Act 2000
• State Superannuation Act 2000
• State Supply Commission Act 1991
• Statutory Corporations (Liability of Directors) Act 1996
• Swan and Canning Rivers Management Act 2006
• Trade Marks Act 1995
• Transfer of Land Act 1893
• Workers Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT 
In accordance with section 109(2) of the Act and subject to the control of the MRA’s Board of management, the Chief 
Executive Officer administers the day to day operations of the MRA.

Mr Kieran Kinsella, Chief Executive Officer
Mr Kieran Kinsella has more than 25 years’ senior management experience in both Federal and State Government 
public services in a wide range of disciplines including urban renewal, statutory planning, economic and community 
development, strategic and regional planning, regional development and employment and training. He has been CEO 
of the MRA since June 2012, having previously led the revitalisation of Midland as CEO of the Midland Redevelopment 
Authority from May 2000 to December 2011.

The MRA’s organisational structure has four divisions – Planning, Project Delivery, Place Management and Corporate 
Services – with each managed by an Executive Director. Working together, each division contributes to the delivery of 
redevelopment projects of strategic significance that are changing the way people interact with metropolitan Perth. 

Planning Division
The Planning Division consists of three directorates: Urban Design, Strategy and Innovation, and Statutory Planning. 
Focusing on policy, planning and design, research initiatives and best practices, the Planning Division encourages 
sustainable and innovative urban redevelopment.

Project Delivery Division
The Project Delivery division consists of three directorates: Business Development, Operations and Sales. Focusing 
on the strategic direction, leadership and delivery of major and State significant projects, the Project Delivery division 
implements sales strategies, sales release processes and product positioning and investment attraction activities across the 
MRA’s Redevelopment Areas. 

Place Management Division
The Place Management division is made up of three directorates: Place Activation, Communications and Commercial 
Operations. Creating dynamic communities where people want to live, work and play, the Place Activation division 
delivers meaningful and engaging communications, spaces and events while also ensuring diligent asset management for 
the MRA. 

Corporate Services Division
The Corporate Services division is made up of four directorates: Finance and Treasury, Procurement and Contracts, 
Business Services, and Legal and Governance Services. By continually encouraging business improvements and 
efficiencies, the Corporate Services division provides support to the whole of the organisation with specialised 
professional knowledge.

ADMINISTERED LEGISLATION
The MRA administers the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Act 2011 along with the subsidiary legislation Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority Regulations 2011.
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MANAGEMENT PERFORMANCE 
The Western Australian Government has five goals that guide the 
development of policies, programs and services within its agencies.  
The MRA supports these State Government Goals through its 
Redevelopment Area Objectives and Corporate Objectives and their 
associated Key Performance Indicators.

FRAMEWORK

STATE GOVERNMENT GOALS 
State Building -  Major Projects: Building strategic 
infrastructure that will create jobs and underpin Western 
Australia’s long-term economic development.

Financial and Economic Responsibility: Responsibly 
managing the State’s finances through the efficient and 
effective delivery of services, encouraging economic activity 
and reducing regulatory burdens on the private sector. 

Outcomes Based Services Delivery: Greater focus on 
achieving results in key service delivery areas for the benefit 
of all Western Australians.

Stronger Focus on Regions: Greater focus on service delivery, 
infrastructure investment and economic development to 
improve the overall quality of life in remote and regional 
areas.

Social and Environmental Responsibility: Ensuring 
that economic activity is managed in a socially and 
environmentally responsible manner for the long-term 
benefit of the State.
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State Building-  
Major Projects

Financial and 
Economic 

Responsibility

Outcomes 
Based Services 

Delivery

Stronger Focus 
on Regions

Social and 
Environmental 
Responsibility

STATE GOVERNMENT GOALS 

To ensure Sound Financial Management by enhancing open, transparent and accountable 
governance that strengthens our financial position, demonstrating effective asset stewardship 
and encouraging private sector investment.

To build a Sense of Place in the redevelopment areas by supporting unique and high 
quality design, heritage protection, public art, and cultural activities that respond to Perth’s 
environment, climate and lifestyle.

To ensure Effective Stakeholder Relationships by identifying our key stakeholders, 
communicating our success stories in innovative ways, ensuring meaningful engagement, and 
building partnerships that enable the MRA to achieve its objectives.

To promote Economic Wellbeing by supporting, where appropriate, development that facilitates 
investment and provides opportunity for local businesses and emerging industries to satisfy 
market demand.

To retain Motivated and Talented People by ensuring that a strong corporate culture is built 
through recruitment and retention of the best and the brightest, making the MRA an employer of 
choice.

To promote Urban Efficiency through infrastructure and buildings, the mix of land use and 
facilitating a critical mass of population and employment.

To achieve Business Efficiency by continually encouraging business improvements and 
regularly reviewing processes and procedures in search of best practice. 

To enhance Connectivity and reduce the need to travel by supporting development aimed at 
well-designed places that support walking, cycling and public transit.

To promote Social Inclusion by encouraging, where appropriate, a diverse range of housing and 
by supporting community infrastructure, activities and opportunities for visitors and residents to 
socialise. 

To enhance Environmental Integrity by encouraging ecologically sustainable design, resource 
efficiency, recycling, renewable energy and protection of the local ecology.

The MRA’s purpose 
is to deliver 

redevelopment 
project of strategic 

significant in 
metropolitan Perth. 
Therefore this State 
Government Goal is 

not applicable.

The MRA’s purpose 
is to deliver 

redevelopment 
project of strategic 

significant in 
metropolitan Perth. 
Therefore this State 
Government Goal is 

not applicable.

MRA CORPORATE OBJECTIVES  

MRA REDEVELOPMENT AREA OBJECTIVES  
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52 INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Parliament of Western Australia 

METROPOLITAN REDEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY
REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
I  have audited the accounts and financial statements of 
the  Metropolitan  Redevelopment Authority.

The financial statements comprise the Statement of 
Financial Position as at 30 June 2015, the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in 
Equity and Statement of Cash Flows for the year then 
ended, and Notes comprising a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

BOARD’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Board is responsible for keeping proper accounts, 
and the preparation and fair presentation of  the  financial  
statements  in  accordance  with  Australian  Accounting  
Standards  and  the Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such 
internal control as the Board determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial 
statements based on my audit. The audit was conducted 
in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those 
Standards require compliance with relevant ethical 
requirements relating to audit engagements and that the 
audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend 
on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal 
control relevant to the Authority’s preparation and 
fair presentation of the financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the 
Board, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

OPINION
In my opinion, the financial statements are based 
on proper accounts and present fairly, in all material  
respects,  the  financial  position  of  the  Metropolitan  
Redevelopment  Authority  at 30 June 2015 and its 
financial performance and cash flows for the year 
then ended. They are in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions.

REPORT ON CONTROLS
I have audited the controls exercised by the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority during the year ended 30 June 
2015.

Controls exercised by the Metropolitan Redevelopment 
Authority are those policies and procedures established 
by the Board to ensure that the receipt, expenditure 
and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal 
of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in 
accordance with legislative provisions.

BOARD’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR 
CONTROLS
The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate 
system of internal control to ensure that the receipt, 
expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition 
and disposal of public and other property, and the 
incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the 
Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s 
Instructions, and other relevant written law.

INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the controls 
exercised by the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority 
based on my audit conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the adequacy of controls to ensure that 
the Authority complies with the legislative provisions. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement and include an evaluation of the design and 
implementation of relevant controls.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

OPINION
In my opinion, the controls exercised by the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority are sufficiently adequate 
to provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, 
expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition 
and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities 
have been in accordance with legislative provisions 
during the year ended 30 June 2015.

REPORT ON THE KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS
I have audited the key performance indicators of the 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority for the year 
ended 30 June 2015.

The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness 
indicators and the key efficiency indicators that provide 
information on outcome achievement and service 
provision.

BOARD’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE KEY 
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
The Board is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the key performance indicators  in  
accordance  with  the  Financial  Management  Act  2006  
and  the  Treasurer’s

Instructions and for such controls as the Board 
determines necessary to ensure that the key performance 
indicators fairly represent indicated performance.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the key 
performance indicators based on my audit conducted 
in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance 
Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the key performance indicators. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the key performance indicators. In 
making these risk assessments the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the Board’s preparation and 
fair presentation of the key performance indicators in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the 
relevance and appropriateness of the key performance 
indicators for measuring the extent of outcome 
achievement and service provision.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

OPINION
In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority are relevant  
and appropriate to assist  users to assess the  Authority’s  
performance and fairly represent indicated performance 
for the year ended 30 June 2015.

INDEPENDENCE
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the 
independence requirements of the Auditor General Act 
2006 and Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards, 
and other relevant ethical requirements.

MATTERS RELATING TO THE 
ELECTRONIC PUBLICATION OF THE 
AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements 
and key performance indicators of the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority for the year ended 30 
June 2015 included on the Authority’s website. The 
Authority’s management is responsible for the integrity 
of the Authority’s website. This audit does not provide 
assurance on the integrity of the Authority’s website. The 
auditor’s report refers only to the financial statements 
and key performance indicators described above. It 
does not provide an opinion on any other information 
which may have been hyperlinked to/from these 
financial statements or key performance indicators. If 
users of the financial statements and key performance 
indicators are concerned with the inherent risks arising 
from publication on a website, they are advised to refer 
to the hard copy of the audited financial statements and 
key performance indicators to confirm the information 
contained in this website version of the financial 
statements and key performance indicators.

COLIN MURPHY 
AUDITOR GENERAL FOR WESTERN AUSTRALIA

Perth, Western Australia

31 August 2015
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CERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

The accompanying financial statements of the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial 
Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ended 30 June 2015 and the financial position 
for the period ended 30 June 2015.
At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.   
   

Richard Muirhead Jeff Dowling Kieran Kinsella   Mark Reutens
Chairperson Deputy Chairperson Chief Executive Officer   Chief Finance Officer

Date: 26 August 2015
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Note
2015
$000

2014
$000

INCOME
SALES INCOME
Sales 4  29,016  76,122
Total Sales Income  29,016  76,122
OTHER INCOME
Developer Contribution Fees (DCS) 7,040 5,330
Interest 5 40 879
Rental 1,954 2,062
Rechargeable Works 17,613 15,477
Other 6 6,386 1,159
Fair Value through profit or loss 16 22,297 -
Total Other Income 55,330 24,907  
TOTAL INCOME 84,346  101,029

EXPENSES
Administration 538  385
Communications  699  586
Cost of Goods Sold 4  3,827  73,061
Employee Benefits 7  14,848  11,399
Supplies and Services 8 8,435 6,000
Depreciation and Amortisation 9  1,802  1,271
Developer Contribution Expenses  7,040  5,330
Development Control  1,142  2,174
Economic and Community Development  518  367
Environmental Remediation  26  125
Finance Costs  2,697  1,814
Members Allowances  169  339
Rechargeable Works 17,354 15,477
Other Expenses 10 1,003  714

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
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Note
2015
$000

2014
$000

EXPENSES (continued)
Property and Estate Management  765  682
Property Maintenance  3,163  3,212
Sales and Marketing  3,044  3,132
Infrastructure development expense  9,633  25,073
Write Down of Inventory to Net Realisable Value 12  30,410  5,362
TOTAL EXPENSES 107,113  156,503
Net loss other than income from State Government (22,767) (55,474)
Income from State Government
Resources received free of charge  105  1
Grants and contributions from other government agencies  2,581  6,609
LOSS FOR THE PERIOD (20,081) (48,864)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Remeasurements of defined benefit liability (227)  62
Changes in asset revaluation reserve  412 (562)
Total Other Comprehensive Income  185 (499)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE PERIOD (19,896) (49,364)
The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
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Note
2015
$000

2014
$000

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 11 18,977            14,355
Inventories 12 95,984 63,968 
Receivables 13 11,997 8,434 
Other Current Assets 14 335 690 
Total Current Assets 127,293 87,447 

Non-Current Assets
Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents                            11 11,753 6,320
Inventories 12 385,283 305,945
Receivables 13 10,014 192
Property, Furniture and Equipment 15 6,841 3,349
Investment Properties 16 50,643 24,374
Infrastructure 17 209 -
Intangible Assets 19 2,113 2,548
Total Non-Current Assets 466,856 342,728
TOTAL ASSETS 594,149 430,175 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2015
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Note
2015
$000

2014
$000

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 21 26,285 15,654 
Income in Advance 22 159 228 
Provisions 23 3,934 1,585 
Total Current Liabilities 30,378 17,467 

Non-Current Liabilities
Payables 21 2,122 980 
Borrowings 24 269,624 214,830 
Provisions 23 24,588 53,110 
Other Non-Current Liabilities 25 1,239 303 
Total Non-Current Liabilities 297,573 269,223 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 327,951 286,690
NET ASSETS 266,198 143,485 
Contributed Equity
Contributed Equity contribution by owners 26 361,690 219,082 
Asset Revaluation Reserve                                              26 412 -   
Accumulated Losses 26 (95,904) (75,597) 
TOTAL EQUITY          266,198           143,485 
The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Note
2015
$000

2014
$000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts
Interest received 40 879 
Other Operating Items 26,775 76,659 
Payments
Employee benefits (13,404) (25,280) 
Payments to suppliers (27,749) (11,335) 
Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities (14,338) 40,923 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Receipts
Developer Contribution Fees (DCS) 7,040 5,330 
Payments
Payments for Capital Works (181,708) (118,978) 
Purchase of non-current physical assets (1,720) (3,895) 
Net cash provided by / (used in) investing activities (176,388) (117,543) 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Note
2015
$000

2014
$000

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Receipts
Proceeds from Borrowings 66,224 37,127 
Payments
Finance Costs Expensed (1,751) (1,748) 
Repayment of borrowings (11,002) (815) 
Net cash provided by / (used in) financing activities 53,471 34,564 

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Grants and subsidies 2,581 6,608 
Equity contribution 144,729 33,746 
Net cash provided by / (used in) State Government 147,310 40,354 

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 10,055 (1,702) 

Opening Cash Balance 20,675 22,377 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 27 30,730 20,675 

The Statement of Cashflows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



61FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Note
Contributed equity

$000
Reserves

$000

Accumulated  
surplus/(deficit)

$000
Total equity

$000
Balance at 1 July 2013 26 191,715 562 (26,796) 165,481 
Restatement for Rechargeable Works (2,001) - - (2,001) 
Restated balance at 1 July 2013 189,714 562 (26,796) 163,480 
Surplus/(deficit) (48,864) (48,864)
Other comprehensive income (562) 63 (499)
Total comprehensive income for the period 189,714 - (75,597) 114,117 
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations 33,346 - - 33,346 
Other contributions by owners 492 - - 492 
Distributions to owners (4,470) - - (4,470)
Total 29,368 - - 29,368 
Balance at 30 June 2014 26 219,082 - (75,597) 143,485 

Balance at 1 July 2014 26 219,082 - (75,597) 143,485 
Restatement for Rechargeable Works (2,120) - - (2,120)
Restated balance at 1 July 2014 216,962 - (75,597) 141,365
Surplus/(deficit) - - (20,081) (20,081)
Other comprehensive income - 412 (227) 185 
Total comprehensive income for the period 216,962 412 (95,904) 121,469 
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations 144,729 - - 144,729 
Other contributions by owners - - - - 
Distributions to owners - - - - 
Total 144,729 - - 144,729 
Balance at 30 June 2015 26 361,691 412 (95,904) 266,198 
The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1. Australian Accounting Standards
General

The Authority’s financial statements for the year ended 
30 June 2015 have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards.  The term ‘Australian Accounting 
Standards’ includes Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB). The Authority 
has adopted any applicable new and revised Australian 
Accounting Standards from their operative dates.  

Early adoption of standards

The Authority cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting 
Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of 
Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements.  
There has been no early adoption of Australian Accounting 
Standards that have been issued or amended (but not operative) 
by the Authority for the annual reporting period ended 
30 June 2015.     

2.1 Summary of significant accounting policies
(a) General statement

The Authority is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares 
general purpose financial statements in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of 
Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements 
of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s instructions.  Several 
of these are modified by the Treasurer’s instructions to vary 
application, disclosure, format and wording.

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s 
instructions impose legislative provisions that govern the 
preparation of financial statements and take precedence over 
Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of 
Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements 
of the AASB.

Where modification is required and has had a material or 
significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of 
that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed 
in the notes to the financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual 
basis of accounting using the historical cost convention, 
except for land, buildings (including investment properties) 
and infrastructure which have been measured at fair value. 
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation in the 
financial statements have been consistently applied throughout 
all periods presented unless otherwise stated. The financial 
statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are 
rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($000).

Note 2.3 ‘Significant estimates and judgements’ discloses 
judgements that have been made in the process of applying the 
Authority’s accounting policies resulting in the most significant 
effect on amounts recognised in the financial statements. Note 
2.3 also discloses key assumptions made concerning the future 
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end 
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year.   

(c) Reporting entity

The reporting entity comprises the Metropolitan Redevelopment 
Authority.     

(d) Contributed equity

AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to 
Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in 
the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a 
restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated 
by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners 
(at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can 
be recognised as equity contributions.  Capital appropriations 

have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 
Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector 
Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.

The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than 
as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, are 
designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are 
non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.

Rechargeable Works income and expenditure items that have 
previously been reported within the Statement of Changes 
in Equity in 2013/14 are now represented in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. This has resulted in the re-statement 
of the Total Income and Total Expenses in 2013/14 in the 
Rechargeable Works Income and Expenditure line items. 
The net effect of this amendment has had a nil effect on the 
Comprehensive Loss reported for the financial year ending 30 
June 2014 and is not material in nature.    

(e) Income

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of 
consideration received or receivable.  Revenue is recognised for 
the major business activities as follows:  

Sale of land
It is the Authority’s practice to recognise the sale of land when 
the significant risks and returns have been transferred to the 
buyer, which is normally on settlement of the transaction and 
transfer of legal title. For conditional exchanges, sales are 
recognised only when all the significant conditions are satisfied. 
If part of the purchase price has been deferred, the sale may 
be recognised before the purchase price is settled and notional 
interest recognised on the deferred payment.

It is the Authority’s practice to maintain an option to repurchase 
land if the Purchaser breaches any covenants in relation to the 
future development of the land. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Sale of goods (other than land)
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods when the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership transfer to the 
purchaser and can be measured reliably.  

Provision of services
Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion 
of the transaction.     

Service appropriations
Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair 
value in the period in which the Authority gains control of 
the appropriated funds, which is at the time those funds are 
deposited to the Authority’s bank account.

Rental Income
Rental income arising on investment properties is accounted for 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term and is recognised 
as income in the periods in which it is earned. Incentives 
representing rental free periods or reduced rentals are 
accounted for in accordance with the rental income policy 
whereby rental income from investment properties is accounted 
for on a straight-line basis over the lease term. If not received 
at the reporting date, revenue is reflected in the statement 
of financial position as a receivable and carried at fair value. 
Contingent rental income is recognised as income in the periods 
in which it is earned.

Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions
Contributions are only recognised as revenue when they do not 
represent contributions by owners. Revenue is recognised at 
fair value when the Authority obtains control over the assets 
comprising the contributions. If the contributions are in the form 
of cash, control is usually obtained when cash is received. If 
the contributions are in the form of land or buildings, control is 

usually obtained when settlement of the acquisition occurs and 
title is transferred. Contributions of services are only recognised 
when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services 
would be purchased if not donated.

(f) Developer Contribution Scheme

Developer Contribution Scheme (DCS) revenues are recognised 
when developers obtain clearance on title(s) for land held within 
the DCS area. Developer Contribution expenses representing 
costs incurred in realising the DCS revenues are also 
recognised at this point.

(g) Gains

Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net 
basis. These include gains arising on the disposal of non-current 
assets and some revaluations of non-current assets.

(h)  Cost of sales

The Authority recognises as inventory all of the costs which 
have been incurred in bringing developed land to a condition 
ready for sale. Such costs are typically accumulated on a 
project by project basis. The Authority allocates development 
costs to individual lots within the project on a rational and 
consistent basis given the specific circumstances of the 
project. 

(i)   Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs for qualifying assets (inventories) are 
capitalised net of any investment income earned on the 
unexpended portion of the borrowings.  Other borrowing costs 
are expensed when incurred. The capitalisation rate used to 
determine the amount of borrowing costs to be capitalised is 
the weighted average interest rate applicable to the Authority’s 
outstanding borrowings during the year.   

(j)   Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure

Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure 
costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost 
of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful 
lives.  Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure 
costing less than $5,000 are expensed directly to the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a 
group of similar items which are significant in total). 
Initial recognition and measurement
Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure are initially 
recognised at cost. For items of property, plant and equipment 
and infrastructure acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the 
cost is the fair value at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the Authority uses 
the revaluation model for the measurement of land and buildings 
and historical cost for all other property, plant and equipment. 
Land and buildings are carried at fair value less accumulated 
depreciation (buildings only) and accumulated impairment 
losses. All other items of property, plant and equipment are 
stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses.

Where market based evidence is available, the fair value of 
land and buildings is determined on the basis of current market 
buying values determined by reference to recent market 
transactions. When buildings are revalued by reference to 
recent market transactions, the accumulated depreciation is 
eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and 
the net amount restated to the revalued amount.
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2.1 Summary of significant accounting  
policies (cont.)

In the absence of market based evidence, the fair value of land 
and buildings is determined on the basis of existing use. This 
normally applies where buildings are specialised or where 
land use is restricted. Fair value for existing use assets is 
determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining 
future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the 
depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair value of buildings 
is determined on the depreciated replacement cost basis, the 
gross carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation are 
restated proportionately.    

Derecognition
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon 
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from 
its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of 
the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income when the asset is 
derecognised.     

Asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments 
and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets as 
described in note 15 ‘Property, plant and equipment’. Upon 
disposal or derecognition of an item of property, plant and 
equipment and infrastructure, any revaluation surplus relating to 
that asset is retained in the asset revaluation surplus.

Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are 
systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a 
manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic 
benefits. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line 
method, using rates which are reviewed annually.  Estimated 
useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are:

Buildings 40 years

Plant and equipment 5-10 years
Computer equipment 5 years
Infrastructure 22-100 years
Land and Artworks are not depreciated

     

Works of art controlled by the Authority are classified as 
property, plant and equipment.  These are anticipated to have 
indefinite useful lives.  Their service potential has not, in any 
material sense, been consumed during the reporting period and 
consequently no depreciation has been recognised.

(k) Impairment of assets

Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure and intangible 
assets are tested for any indication of impairment at the end 
of each reporting period. Where there is an indication of 
impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the 
recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset 
is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable 
amount and an impairment loss is recognised. As the Authority 
is a not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has been identified as a 
surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances 
where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, 
where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a 
significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is 

reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation 
/ amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of 
asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment 
risk from falling replacement costs.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible 
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at the 
end of each reporting period irrespective of whether there is any 
indication of impairment.

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is 
the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the present value of 
future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus 
assets carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment 
where fair value is determined by reference to market‐based 
evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference to 
depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of 
impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus 
assets at cost are tested for indications of impairment at the end 
of each reporting period.    

(l)  Intangible assets

Computer Software
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is 
treated as property, plant and equipment. Software that is not an 
integral part of the related hardware is treated as an intangible 
asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year 
of acquisition.

Web site costs
Web site costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred 
unless they relate to the acquisition or development of an asset 
when they may be capitalised and amortised. Generally, costs 
in relation to feasibility studies during the planning phase of a 
web site, and ongoing costs of maintenance during the operating 
phase are expensed. Costs incurred in building or enhancing 
a web site, to the extent that they represent probable future 
economic benefits that can be reliably measured, are capitalised.  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
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Capitalisation / expensing

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more 
are capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is expensed 
(amortised) over their useful life. Costs incurred below 
these thresholds are expensed directly to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 

Subsequent measurement
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement 
requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Amortisation
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is 
calculated for the period of the expected benefit (estimated 
useful life) on the straight-line basis using rates which are 
reviewed annually. All intangible assets controlled by the 
Authority have a finite useful life and zero residual value. The 
expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:

Software (a) 3 Years

Website 3 Years

(a) Software that is not integral to the operation of any related 
hardware.     

Impairment
The carrying value of intangible assets is reviewed for 
impairment annually when the asset is not yet in use, or more 
frequently when an indicator of impairment arises during the 
reporting year indicating that the carrying value may not be 
recoverable.     

(m) Investment property

Investment property, principally comprising freehold land and 
buildings, is not occupied by the Authority and derives long term 
rental yields. Investment property is carried at fair value, as 
mandated by TI 954, representing open-market value determined 
annually by external valuers. Changes in fair value are recorded 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  

(n)  Leases

As lessee
Operating leases are leases that do not transfer to the Authority 
substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of 
the leased item. The Authority holds operating leases for office 
premises, motor vehicles and some equipment. Operating leases 
are expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term as this 
represents the pattern of benefits derived from the leased assets.

As lessor
Leases in which the Authority transfers substantially all the 
risks and benefits of ownership of an asset are classified as 
finance leases. The Authority recognises assets held under 
a finance lease in its statement of financial position as a 
receivable at an amount equal to the net investment in the 
lease, and subsequently recognises finance income based on 
a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on that 
net investment. Leases in which the Authority does not transfer 
substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of an asset 
are classified as operating leases. 

From time to time the Authority may offer inducements to tenants 
to enter into non-cancellable operating leases. These incentives 
may include contributions to fit‐out and relocation costs, rental 
free periods or direct cash payments. These incentives are 
recognised as part of the cost of investment properties and 
amortised over the period of the lease. In the event the lease is 
terminated by mutual agreement prior to its conclusion and the 
costs of incentives are recovered, they are applied in reduction 
of the investment property cost.   

(o)  Financial instruments

In addition to cash, the Authority has three categories of 
financial instruments:

 - Loans and receivables

 - Held to maturity investments (includes short term deposits)

 - Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the 
following classes:

Financial assets:
 - Cash and cash equivalents

 - Restricted cash and cash equivalents

 - Receivables

Financial liabilities:
 - Payables

 - Western Australian Treasury Corporation borrowings

 - Income in advance

 - Other borrowings

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments 
is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction 
cost or face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. The fair value of 
short‐term receivables and payables is the transaction cost 
or the face value because there is no interest rate applicable 
and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of 
discounting is not material.

(p)  Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash 
equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets 
comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original 
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to 
a known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant 
risk of changes in value.    
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2.1 Summary of significant accounting  
policies (cont.)

(q) Receivables

Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an 
allowance for any uncollectable amounts (i.e. impairment).  The 
collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis 
and any receivables identified as uncollectable are written-off 
against the allowance account.  The allowance for uncollectable 
amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective 
evidence that the Authority will not be able to collect the debts.  
The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for 
settlement within 30 days.  

(r)   Inventories

All land and buildings and capital works held for development 
and subsequent sale are regarded as inventory and are 
classified as such in the statement of financial position. 
Development expenditure is capitalised with reference to the 
stage of completion of the project.

The Authority recognises as inventory all of the costs which 
have been incurred in bringing developed land to a condition 
ready for sale. Such costs are typically accumulated on a 
project by project basis. The Authority allocates development 
costs to individual lots within the project on a rational and 
consistent basis given the specific circumstances of the project. 

Land held for development and subsequent sale is classified as 
a current asset when development is completed and sales are 
expected to result in realisation of settled sales within twelve 
months based on management’s sales forecasts. Inventories are 
valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value (based on 
undiscounted cash flows). Net realisable value is the estimated 
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated 
costs of completion and, if appropriate, the estimated costs 
of making the sale.  Cost includes the costs of acquisition 
development, holding and borrowing costs incurred during 
development. 

When development is completed, holding and borrowing 
charges are expensed as incurred. Holding and borrowing 
costs are also expensed if active development is interrupted 
for extended periods. Acquisition costs typically include legal 
and professional fees, and valuation fees. Development costs 
typically include the costs of planning, community consultation, 
surveying, quantity surveying, engineering and project 
management including, where applicable, remediation cost for 
contamination. Development costs also include an allocation of 
internal employee benefit costs directly associated with bringing 
the land under development to saleable condition. Holding costs 
include rates and taxes, service charges including insurance 
premiums, security fees and repairs and maintenance. Rental 
income received from tenants while land is under development 
is treated as a reduction in holding costs. Borrowing costs are 
costs such as interest, line fees and legal expenses that would 
have been avoided if the expenditure on the acquisition and 
development of the land had not been made. 

(s)   Payables

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the 
Authority becomes obliged to make future payments as a result 
of a purchase of assets or services.  The carrying amount is 
equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally within 30 days.

(t)   Accrued salaries

Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid 
at the end of the financial period, as the pay date for the last pay 
period for that financial period does not coincide with the end of 
the financial period. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight 
of the financial period end. The Authority considers the carrying 
amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its fair value.  
   

(u)   Provisions

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and 
are recognised where there is a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period.

Employee benefits – annual and long service leave
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect 
of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period. 

Annual leave
Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 
12 months after the end of the reporting period and is therefore 
considered to be ‘other long term employee benefits’.  The 
annual leave liability is recognised and measured at the present 
value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are 
settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time 
of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration 
is given to expected future wage and salary levels including 
non-salary components such as employer superannuation 
contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures 
and periods of service.  The expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period 
on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, 
as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability 
as the Authority does not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of 
the reporting period.
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Long service leave
Long service leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 
12 months after the end of the reporting period and is therefore 
recognised and measured at the present value of amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the 
remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration 
is given to expected future wage and salary levels including 
non-salary components such as employer superannuation 
contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures 
and periods of service.  The expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period 
on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, 
as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified 
as current liabilities as the Authority does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at 
least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.  Pre-
conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are 
classified as non-current liabilities because the Authority has an 
unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the 
employee has completed the requisite years of service.

Employee benefits – personal leave
Liabilities for personal leave are recognised when it is probable 
that personal leave paid in the future will be greater than the 
entitlement that will accrue in the future. Past history indicates 
that, on average, personal leave taken each reporting period is 
less than the entitlement accrued. This is expected to continue 
in future periods. Accordingly, it is unlikely that existing 
accumulated entitlements will be used by employees and no 
liability for unused personal leave entitlements is recognised. As 
personal leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income for this leave as it is taken.

Employee benefits – Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and 
other fund providers administer public sector superannuation 
arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with 
legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria for membership in 
particular schemes for public sector employees vary according 
to commencement and implementation dates. Eligible employees 
contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension 
scheme closed to new members since 1987, or the Gold State 
Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum 
scheme closed to new members since 1995.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 
who were not members of either the Pension Scheme or the 
GSS became non-contributory members of the West State 
Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing 
employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the 
GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 2012, existing 
members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees have been 
able to choose their preferred superannuation fund provider. The 
Authority makes contributions to GESB or other fund providers 
on behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth 
Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 
1992. Contributions to these accumulation schemes extinguish 
the Authority’s liability for superannuation charges in respect of 
employees who are not members of the Pension Scheme  
or GSS.

The Pension Scheme and the pre-transfer benefit for employees 
who transferred to the GSS are defined benefit schemes. 
These benefits are wholly unfunded and the liabilities for future 
payments are provided at the end of the reporting period. The 
liabilities under these schemes have been calculated separately 
for each scheme annually by Pricewaterhouse Coopers LLP 
Actuaries using the projected unit credit method.

The expected future payments are discounted to present value 
using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely 
as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

The GSS, the WSS, and the GESBS, where the current service 
superannuation charge is paid by the Authority to the GESB,  
are defined contribution schemes. The liabilities for current 
service superannuation charges under the GSS, the WSS, 
and the GESBS are extinguished by the concurrent payment 
of employer contributions to the GESB. The GSS is a defined 
benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole‐of‐
government reporting. However, from an agency perspective, 
apart from the transfer benefits, it is a defined contribution plan 
under AASB 119.

Employment on-costs
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation 
insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised 
separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment 
to which they relate has occurred.  Employment on-costs are 
included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as 
part of the Authority’s ‘Employee benefits expense’.  The related 
liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’.
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2.1 Summary of significant accounting  
policies (cont.)

Deferred works
A provision for deferred works is recognised when a contract of 
sale provides for specific capital works to be undertaken on the 
land subsequent to the sale of the land and the sale has met the 
criteria for recognition.

Contaminated sites
Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, the Authority is 
required to report known and suspected contaminated sites 
to the Department of Environment and Conservation (DEC). In 
accordance with the Act, DEC classifies these sites on the basis 
of the risk to human health, the environment and environmental 
values. Where sites are classified as contaminated-remediation 
required or possibly contaminated-investigation required, the 
Authority may have a liability in respect of investigation or 
remediation expenses.

Future development obligations
Where the Authority has provided an undertaking to carry out 
development projects in lieu of arrangements with external 
parties for contributions paid or for the sale of development 
rights of land under its control, a provision has been raised to 
recognise the Authority’s future development obligations in 
respect of contributions paid and/or land sold.

Parking contributions
A provision for parking contributions is recognised when a 
developer becomes obligated to pay a parking contribution 
to the Authority as a result of not fulfilling minimum parking 
requirements in their particular development plans. These 
contributions are held by the Authority to be applied for the 
provision of public parking, cycling, pedestrian facilities or 
public transport within the redevelopment area.  

(v) Employee benefits expense

Employee benefits expense comprises all benefits paid to direct 
employees of the Authority.

It includes:

• Base salary;
• Fringe benefits;
• Personal leave;
• Holiday pay;
• Long service leave;
• Bonuses; and
• Superannuation.

Employee benefits expense does not include the on-costs of 
providing employment which do not constitute a benefit to 
employees including:

• Payroll tax; and
• Worker Compensation Insurance.  
(w) Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost

Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost that can 
be reliably measured are recognised as income at fair value. 
Where the resource received represents a service that the 
Authority would otherwise pay for, a corresponding expense is 
recognised. Receipts of assets are recognised in the Statement 
of Financial Position.    

(x)  Distribution or disposal of assets at no or nominal cost

Occasionally the Authority may be required to transfer 
inventories (developed land and/or buildings) to a third 
party, potentially another organisation established by the 
State Government, at no or nominal consideration. In those 
circumstances, the carrying amount of those inventories shall 
be recognised as a reduction to contributed equity when the 
inventories are distributed.    

(y)  Dividends

In accordance with the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority 
Act 2011, the Treasurer may direct the payment of any surplus, in 
part or whole, at the end of any financial year, to the Consolidated 
Fund. The amount of the surplus/dividend payment is determined 
by the Treasurer in conjunction with the Authority. 

(z)  Goods and services tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of goods and services tax (GST), except:

(i)  where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from 
the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or

(ii)  for receivables and payables which are recognised 
inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables. 
The GST component of cash flows arising from investing and 
financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows. 

(aa)  Comparative figures

Comparison figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be 
comparable with the figures presented in the current financial 
year.     
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2.2  Disclosure of changes in accounting policies 
and estimates

Voluntary changes in accounting policy
There has been no voluntary change in accounting policies. 

2.3  Significant estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements requires management to 
make judgements about the application of accounting policies 
that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements. The Authority evaluates these judgements 
regularly.

Operating lease commitments
The Authority has entered into commercial leases and has 
determined that the lessors retain all the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership of the property. Accordingly, these leases 
have been classified as operating leases.

Fair value of land and buildings
Land and buildings are independently valued annually by 
Colliers International Licensed Real Estate and Business 
Agents and recognised with sufficient regularity to ensure 
that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the 
asset’s fair value at the end of the reporting period. The most 
significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in 
assessing whether to apply the existing use basis to assets and 
in determining estimated useful life and also determining the 
highest and best use. Professional judgement by the valuer is 
required where the evidence does not provide a clear distinction 
between market type assets and existing use assets.

Public infrastructure expenses
Capital expenditure undertaken by the Authority on land owned 
by the Crown or State as part of the Authority’s mandate has 
been expensed based on the best information currently available 
regarding the transfer of future ownership at nil or nominal cost.

Recovery of inventory and investment property
Estimated recovery of inventory and investment properties is 
based on market information as at balance date. Events and 
circumstances could change in the future resulting in the 
recoverable amount being less than the cost.

Fair value of borrowings
The Authority recognises its borrowings amount as per the 
accounting policy, initially at the fair value before measuring the 
liability at amortised cost.

Long service leave provisions
Estimations and assumptions used in calculating the Authority’s 
long service leave provision include expected future salary 
rates, discount rates, employee retention rates and expected 
future payments. Changes in these estimations and assumptions 
may impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave 
provision.

Provision for contaminated sites
In determining the Authority’s liability for remediating 
contaminated sites, assumptions regarding the level of 
remediation work are made. Assumptions include soil 
volume based on methodical sample testing, method of soil 
remediation engineering estimates and the provision of 
professional consultants. Once the sites are fully assessed using 
environmental testing the level of remediation work required 
may change requiring the liability to be adjusted.

Provision for deferred works
In determining the Authority’s liability for deferred works, the 
provisions of the contract of sale for each site is consulted to 
determine assumptions regarding the level of work required. 
Once the sites are fully assessed the level of work required and 
the probable building design may change requiring the liability to 
be adjusted.

Provision for annual leave and long service leave
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect 
of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period.

Provision for parking contributions
In determining the Authority’s liability for parking, a range of 
possible parking outcomes are determined and the cost of the 
preferred outcome is estimated, this cost is compared to the 
parking contributions received from developers to determine if 
there is any significant difference. As further contributions are 
received and decisions are made as to the parking outcomes to 
pursue the liability will require adjustment.
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3. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy
(a)  Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard

The Authority has not applied any new Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014 that impacted on the Authority.

(b)  Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative

The Authority cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements.   
Consequently, the Authority has not applied early any of the following Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued that may impact the Authority.  Where applicable, the Authority plans to 
apply these Australian Accounting Standards from their application date.

Operative for  
reporting periods 
beginning on/after

AASB 9 Financial Instruments
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.
The mandatory application date of this Standard is currently 1 January 2018 after being amended by AASB 2012-6, AASB 2013-9, and AASB 2014-1 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards. The Authority has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial Instruments.
Part C of this omnibus Standard makes amendments to other Standards arising from the deletion of references to AASB 1031 in other Standards for 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014 (Part B), and, defers the application of AASB 9 to 1 January 2017 (Part C).  The application date of AASB 9 was 
subsequently deferred to 1 January 2018 by AASB 20141.  The Authority has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of AASB 9, otherwise 
there is no financial impact for Part B.

1 Jan 2014
1 Jan 2017

AASB 2014-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation [AASB 116 & 138]
The adoption of this Standard has no financial impact for the Model Authority as depreciation and amortisation is not determined by reference to revenue 
generation, but by reference to consumption of future economic benefits.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2015-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements to Australian Accounting Standards 2012–2014 Cycle [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 11, 110, 119, 
121, 133, 134, 137 & 140]
These amendments arise from the issuance of International Financial Reporting Standard Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle in September 2014, 
and editorial corrections. The Authority has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 101 [AASB 7, 101, 134 & 1049]
This Standard amends AASB 101 to provide clarification regarding the disclosure requirements in AASB 101. Specifically, the Standard proposes narrow-
focus amendments to address some of the concerns expressed about existing presentation and disclosure requirements and to ensure entities are able to use 
judgement when applying a Standard in determining what information to disclose in their financial statements. There is no financial impact. 

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2015-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Withdrawal of AASB 1031 Materiality
This Standard completes the withdrawal of references to AASB 1031 in all Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, allowing that Standard to 
effectively be withdrawn. There is no financial impact. 

1 Jul 2015 
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2015
$000

2014
$000

4. Trading Profit
Sales  29,016  76,122 
Cost of sales:
Opening inventory 369,913 326,408 
Purchases 115,180 116,566 
Goods available for sale 485,093 442,974 
Closing inventory  481,266  369,913 
Cost of goods sold (3,827) (73,061)
Trading profit 25,189 3,061

See note 2(r) ‘Inventories’ and note 12 ‘Inventories’.

5. Interest Income
Interest 40 879 

40 879

Interest income includes interest earned on cash and cash equivalents held at the bank and at call short term deposit accounts.

6. Other Income
Development Applications 804 799 
Planning Fees/Charges 20 77 
Tenant Outgoings - Recoverable 6  -   
Other Revenue 5,489 283 
Reduction in Provision 67  -   

6,386 1,159 
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2015
$000

2014
$000

7. Employee Benefits
Wages and salaries (a)  13,582  10,413 
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b)  1,493  923 
Superannuation – defined benefit plans (see note 22) (227)  63 

 14,848  11,399 

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component, leave entitlements including superannuation contribution component. Increase due to increase in 
number of staff, increase in discount rate and increase in rates applied to calculate on-costs.
(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and GESB Super Scheme.
Employment on-costs liability is included at Note 23 ‘Provisions’.

8.Supplies and Services
Consultants and Contractors  6,313  4,107 
Office Occupancy Costs  1,378  619 
Insurances  656  691 
IT Software & Licences  365  148 
Other Supplies & Services (277) 435 

8,435 6,000 
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2015
$000

2014
$000

9. Depreciation and Amortisation 
Depreciation
Buildings  5  80 
Plant and Equipment  58  41 
Computer Equipment  153  157 
Leasehold Improvements  205  19 
Artwork  2  1 

 423  298 
Amortisation
Intangible assets  1,379  973 
Total amortisation  1,379  973 
Total depreciation and amortisation  1,802  1,271 

10. Other Expenses
Asset Revaluation  -    54 
Doubtful Debts (a)  15  7 
Loss on Disposal of Asset  10  -   
Payroll Tax  740  646 
Penalty & Interest  1  2 
Write-Off Bad Debts  1  5 
Interest Revenue Adjustment  236 -   

1,003  714 

(a) Net of amounts recovered during the period
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2015
$000

2014
$000

11. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Operating account  18,977  14,355 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents                             11,753  6,320 

 30,730  20,675 

The Authority’s operating account is a non-interest bearing bank account and the restricted parking funds held with Western Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC) are bearing floating interest rates.
Restricted cash and cash equivalents predominately represents funds held for Developer Contribution Schemes (DCS).

12. Inventories
The aggregate carrying amount of inventories recognised and included in the financial statements is as follows:
Current 95,984 63,968 
Non-Current 385,283 305,945 
Total Inventories  481,267  369,913 

Current
Developed Land (at cost) 95,984 63,968 

95,984 63,968 

The following represents the transfers to and from developed land inventories:
Developed Land (at cost)
Balance at Start of period 63,968 39,308 
Provision for Future Works (27,264) 23,785 
Cost of Sales (3,827) (73,061)
Items expensed (36) - 
Transferred (to) / from Non-Current Inventory 78,726 69,854 
Transferred (to) / from Investment Property - 4,710 
Infrastructure Development Expense (9,633) -
Write down inventory to net realisable value (5,950) (628)
Balance at period end 95,984 63,968 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
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2015
$000

2014
$000

12. Inventories (continued)
Non-Current
Developed Land (at cost) 385,283 305,945 

385,283 305,945 

The following represents the transfers to and from developed land inventories:
Developed Land (at cost)
Balance at Start of period 305,944 287,101 
Adjustments (455) -
Agency Transfers - (17,329)
Transferred (to) / from Current inventory (78,726) (69,854)
Additional Works 195,355 138,911 
Developer Contribution Recoveries (7,040) (5,425)
Developer Contribution Scheme Adjustments 984 -
Transferred (to) / from PP&E (2,348) 2,348 
Transferred (to) / from Investment Property (3,972) -
Infrastructure Development Expense - (25,073)
Write down inventory to net realisable value (24,460) (4,734)
Balance at period end 385,283 305,945 

Inventories are recorded at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The valuations have been determined taking into account advice from Western Australia Land Information Authority (Landgate) and 
Colliers International (WA) Pty Ltd about the fair value of inventories.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
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2015
$000

2014
$000

13. Receivables
Current
Trade receivables 801 2,966 
Provision for impairment of receivables (22) (7)
GST Receivable 4,108 4,090 

4,887 7,049
Leased asset  -    247 
Other receivables  7,110  1,138 

 11,997  8,434 

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivables:
Balance at start of period (7) (188)
Doubtful Debts expense recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income (22) (7)
Amounts recovered during the period 6 175 
Amounts written off during the period 1 13 
Balance at end of period (22) (7)

The Authority does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to receivables.
Non-Current
Leased asset  -    192 
Other receivables  10,014  -   

 10,014  192 

Refer to note 2(q) and note 31 ‘Financial Instruments’.

14. Other current assets
Prepayments  335  690 

 335  690 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

2015
$000

2014
$000

15. Property, plant and equipment
Land
At fair value (a) - 650 

- 650 
Buildings
At fair value (a) 3,200 45 
Accumulated depreciation (12) (3)

3,188 43 
Artworks
At fair value (a) 630 -

630 -
Plant and equipment
At cost 645 700 
Accumulated depreciation (441) (536)

204 164 
Computer equipment
At cost 1,669 1,686 
Accumulated depreciation (839) (699)

830 987 
Leasehold improvements
At cost 2,455 1,529 
Accumulated depreciation (526) (321)

1,929 1,208 
Work in Progress
At cost 60 300 

60 300 

Total Property, Plant and Equipment 6,841 3,349 
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15. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

2015
 Land
$000 

 Buildings 
$000

Plant and 
Equipment

$000

Computer 
Equipment

$000

Lease  
Improvements

$000
Artworks

$000

Work In  
Progress

$000
Total
$000

Carrying amount at start of period 650 43 160 987 1,208 - 301 3,349 
Adjustment to opening balances from prior 
period

- - 4 2 (7) - (44) (45)

Additions - 2,348 - - - 597 1,766 4,711 
Disposals - - (69) (106) - - - (175)
Depreciation - (10) 95 (141) (204) - - (260)
Transfers (650) 605 14 88 932 32 (1,963) (942)
Revaluation Increment (decrement) - 202 - - - 1 - 203 
Carrying amount at end of period - 3,188 204 830 1,929 630 60 6,841 

2014
 Land
$000 

 Buildings 
$000

Plant and 
Equipment

$000

Computer 
Equipment

$000

Lease  
Improvements

$000

Work In  
Progress

$000
Total
$000

Carrying amount at start of period 3,410 3,905 122 1,144 37 64 8,682 
Adjustment to opening balances from prior 
period

- - (25) - - 9 (20)

Additions - - - - - 3,424 3,424 
Disposals (3,410) (3,825) - - - (4) (7,239)
Depreciation - (82) (40) (157) (19) - (298)
Transfers 725 45 107 - 1,190 (2,651) (584)
Revaluation Increment (decrement) (75) - - - - (542) (617)
Carrying amount at end of period 650 43 164 987 1,208 300 3,348 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

2015
$000

2014
$000

16. Investment properties
At Fair value 
Carrying amount at start of period 24,374 25,430 
Additions - 460 
Transfer (to) / from Investment Property 3,972 (536)
Net gain (loss) from fair value adjustment (a) 22,297 (980)
Carrying amount at end of period  50,643  24,374 

Amounts recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Income for investment properties
Revaluation Increment (Decrement) reflected in Statement of Comprehensive Income (b) 22,297 (980)
Rental income 1,954 2,062
Direct operating expenses from property that generated rental income 190 34 

(a) Land and buildings were revalued by Colliers Valuation Services as at 30 June 2015 and by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) as at 1 July 2014 and recognised 
at 30 June 2015.  In undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to either market values or a hypothetical alternate land use value (Current Use).

(b) The 2015 revaluation increment relates to the reclassification of a number of items from inventory, which were recorded at cost, to investment property, which have subsequently been  
valued at fair value.

17. Infrastructure
At Fair value 
At fair value  209  -   

209 - 

Reconciliation
Carrying amount at start of period                      -   -
Revaluation increments / (decrements)                  209 -
Carrying amount at end of period                  209                      -   
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18. Fair Value Measurement

2015
 Level 1 

$000
 Level 2 

$000
Level 3

$000

Fair Value at  
end of Period

$000
Land (Note 15) - - -  -   
Buildings (Note 15) - 202 -  202 
Artworks (Note 15) - 1 -  1 
Infrastructure (Note 17) - 209 -  209 

 -    412  -    412 

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 or 3 during the period.
Valuation techniques to derive fair values
Level 2 fair values of Buildings, Artworks and Infrastructure are derived using either the market or current use approaches.  For market type (MV) improved assets (land and improvements), the notional 
land value is measured by comparison and analysis of open market transactions on the assumption that the land is in a vacant and marketable condition. For current use land assets, fair value is 
measured firstly by establishing the opportunity cost of public purpose land. This approach is termed the hypothetical alternate land use value (HALV), and assumes unencumbered land use based upon 
potential highest and best alternative use as represented by surrounding land uses and market analysis.

2015
$000

2014
$000

19. Intangible assets
Software at cost 6,119 5,175 
Accumulated amortisation (4,006) (2,627)

2,113 2,548 

Reconciliation:
Carrying amount at start of period 2,548 961 
Additions 944 2,560 
Amortisation expense (1,379) (973)
Carrying amount at end of period 2,113 2,548 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

20. Impairment of assets 
There were no indications of impairment to property, furniture & equipment and intangible assets as at 30 June 2015. 
The Authority held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period.

2015
$000

2014
$000

21. Payables
Current
Trade payables 13,565 12,731 
Accrued salaries 427 344 
Accrued expenses 1,475 708 
Other Payables 10,818 1,871
Total current  26,285  15,654 

Non-current
Payables - lease incentive liability 2,122 980 
Total non-current 2,122 980 

See also note 2(t) ‘Payables’ and note 31 ‘Financial Instruments’.

22. Income in Advance
Rental Income 134 26 
Finance lease asset income - 202 
Deposit for the purchase of land 25 -

 159  228 
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2015
$000

2014
$000

23. Provisions 
Current
Employee benefits provision:
Annual leave (a) 1,033 862 
Long service leave (b) 1,031 453 
Superannuation 186 122 

2,250 1,437 
Other provisions
Employment on-costs (c) 134 86 
Future Monitoring 50 62 
Contaminated sites 1,500 -

1,684 148
3,934 1,585 

Non-Current
Employee benefits provision: 535 437 
Long service leave (b) 49 47 
Superannuation 1,839 1,620 
Defined benefit superannuation plans (d)  2,423  2,104 

Other provisions
Employment on-costs ( c)  35  29 
Future works 277 23,785 
Future monitoring  708  740 
Contaminated sites  20,504  25,826 
Parking contributions  641  626 

22,165 51,006 
24,588 53,110 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

2015
$000

2014
$000

23. Provisions (continued)
(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the 
reporting period.  Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities and employment on-costs will occur as follows:

Within 12 months of reporting period  818  670 
More than 12 months after reporting period  377  249 

 1,195  919 

Within 12 months of reporting period  435  90 
More than 12 months after reporting period  1,373  859 

 1,808  949 

(c) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including workers’ compensation 
insurance.  The provision is the present value of expected future payments.  

(d) Defined benefit superannuation plans
The Authority has no legal liability to make up the liability other than by continuing to comply with the employer funding  
arrangements as detailed below.
Reconciliation of the unfunded liability recognised in the Statement of Financial position is as follows:
Liability at start of period 1,620 1,691 
Included in profit or loss:
Interest costs (unwinding of the discount) 59 56 
Included in Other Comprehensive Income:
Net actuarial losses / ( gains) recognised 227 (63)
Benefits paid (67) (64)
Liability at the end of the period 1,839 1,620 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

2015
$000

2014
$000

23. Provisions (continued)
Reconciliation of the fair value of plan assets is as follows:
Fair value of plan assets at start of period - -
Employer contributions 67 64 
Benefits paid (67) (64)
Fair value of plan assets at end of period - - 

The principal actuarial assumptions used (expressed as weighted averages) were as follows:
Discount rate 2.74% 3.69%
Future salary increases 4.00% 5.00%

Historic Summary
Defined benefit (Pension Scheme):
Present value of unfunded obligation 1,839 1,620 
Deficit 1,839 1,620 

Experience adjustments arising on plan liabilities:
Defined benefit (Pension Scheme): (6) 11 

Movement in other provisions
Employment on-cost provision
Current
Carrying amount at start of year 86 88 
Additional provision recognised 48 (2)
Carrying amount at end of period 134 86 

Non-current
Carrying amount at start of year 29 35
Additional provision recognised 6 (6)
Carrying amount at end of period 35 29 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

2015
$000

2014
$000

24. Borrowings
Non-current
WA Treasury Corporation Loan 259,227 204,006 
West Australian Land Authority 10,397 10,824 

 269,624  214,830 

The interest charges on borrowings are capitalised to the appropriate projects.
The loan with West Australian Land Authority relates to funding for the Forrestdale Business Park and Champion Drive in the Armadale region.

25. Other Liabilities
Non-current
Public art and Parking fund contribution (a) 292 303 
Refundable Development Bond 947 - 

 1,239  303 

(a) Parking fund represents cash in lieu of parking spaces. The funds are to be used to provide public facilities. The public art fund represents 
developer contributions to the Percent for Art scheme. This requires that all developments over $1m contribute 1% of the construction costs to 
public art. The public art may be delivered as part of the development or paid to the Authority for the delivery of public art within the project area.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

2015
$000

2014
$000

26. Equity
Balance at start of period 219,082 191,715 
Restatement for Rechargeable Works (2,120) (2,001)
Restated balance at start of period 216,962 189,714
Contribution from Government
Capital Contribution 144,729 33,346 
Transfer from Main Roads - 492
Distribution to Government
Transfer to Main Roads - (4,470)
Balance at end of period  361,691  219,082 

Asset Revaluation Reserve
Balance at start of period - 562 
Net revaluation (decrements) increments - Buildings 202 (562)
Net revaluation (decrements) / increments - Artworks 1 -
Net revaluation (decrements) / increments - Infrastructure 209 -
Balance at end of period 412 -

Accumulated Surplus/ (Deficit)
Balance at start of period (75,597) (26,794)
Loss for the period (20,081) (48,864)
Net revaluation of defined benefit scheme (227) 63
Balance at end of period (95,904) (77,597)
Total Equity at end of period 266,198 143,485

Rechargeable Works income and expenditure items that have previously been reported within the Statement of Changes in Equity in 2013/14 are 
now represented in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Refer Note 2.1(d).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

2015
$000

2014
$000

27. Notes to the Statement of Cashflows
Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cashflows is reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial 
Position as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents 18,977 14,355 
Non-current cash and cash equivalents 11,753 6,320 

30,730 20,675 

Reconciliation of profit/(loss) after tax equivalent to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities
Surplus/(deficit) (20,081) (48,864)
Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation 1,802 1,271 
Revaluation (increment) /decrement (23,122) 1,027 
Doubtful Debt and asset write-off 25 151 
Services received free of charge (105) -
Prior year equity adjustment 466 -
Grants and subsidies (2,581) (6,608)
(Increase) / decrease in assets:
Current receivables (a) (3,563) (6,011) 
Other current assets 355 (433) 
Other non-current assets (9,822) 247 
Inventory charged to Cost of Sales 3,827 73,061 
Write down inventory to NRV 30,410 5,362 
Infrastructure development expense 9,633 25,073 
Increase / (decrease) in liabilities:
Payables (a) 170 (6,611) 
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2015
$000

2014
$000

27. Notes to the Statement of Cashflows (continued)
Payables - non current 1,141 -
Income in advance (70) 7 
Current provisions 850 (111)
Other non-current liabilities 936 1,052 
Non-current provisions (4,178) (231) 
Change in GST receivables/payables (b) (431) 2,541 
Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities (14,338) 40,923 

(a) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase 
of non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items.

(b) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.

28. Commitments
Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the amounts reported in the financial statements,  
are payable as follows:
Within 1 year 30,925 -
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 171,889 298,114

202,814 298,114

Other expenditure commitments
Expenditure commitments for all other items considered non-capital in nature contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognised 
as liabilities, are payable as follows:
Within 1 year 20,021 -
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 27,189 -

47,210 -

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

2015
$000

2014
$000

28. Commitments (continued) 
Non-Cancellable Operating Lease Commitments
Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:
Within 1 year  1,209  1,214 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  4,593  4,643 
Later than 5 years  9,891  11,032 

15,693 16,889

29. Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
Contingent assets
The Authority has no contingent assets.

Contingent liabilities

Grand Palace Lease Dispute – Elizabeth Quay 

The party (Wang Nominees) that formerly occupied the now deconstructed Florence Hummerston Kiosk has commenced an action for compensation against the Western Australian Planning 
Commission (“WAPC”) in the Supreme Court of Western Australia. A sum of $5M was paid by the WAPC from the Elizabeth Quay project budget to Wang Nominees as an advance payment prior to a 
formal compensation claim being lodged. Late in 2013, Wang Nominees rejected a formal offer of compensation however accepted the amount offered as a second advance payment, being $2.24M. 
This brings the total payments to date to $7.24M.  The WAPC will continue to lead and manage the compensation claim as the land was taken by the WAPC in exercise of its taking powers under 
section 191 of the Planning and Development Act 2005. Title to the land was transferred to the MRA following the taking and the MRA will be required to fund any additional compensation amount as 
determined from the project budget. 

Contamination Management – East Perth Gas-Works Site

The MRA is obligated to manage the contamination of the East Perth Gas-Works site and adjacent areas of the Swan River by direction from the Minister for the Environment. There is a containment 
management strategy in place. In February 2014, under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003 the Department of Environment Regulation (DER) classified Mardalup Park as ‘Remediated for Restricted Use’. 

DER requested the MRA continue ongoing;

a) Monitoring of the site to assess the integrity and success of contamination containment measures at the site. 

b) Focus on potential contaminated groundwater migrating from the on-site containment area to the river.

 It is not possible to reliably estimate the potential financial effect of any claims should a contamination event occur in the future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

29. Contingent assets and contingent liabilities (continued)
Former Pioneer Road Service Site (PRS) – Groundwater Monitoring

Lots 201 and 202 Hay Street, which fall within the former PRS site on Hay Street in Subiaco, have been reclassified as “Remediated – Restricted Use” and approved for residential and commercial 
uses, but have some remnant groundwater contamination at 21 metres below ground level. The MRA is required by the Department of Environment Regulation to undertake quarterly groundwater 
monitoring to confirm the fate of the groundwater, in accordance with the approved site groundwater monitoring plan.  Depending on the results of the periodic monitoring, MRA may be required to:

a) Continue to perform further monitoring for a longer period;

a) Perform further remediation works; and

a) Compensate third parties affected by the contamination.

Mitigating against those matters are that the groundwater is not hazardous to human health in its current location; the site reclassification included a prevention on: groundwater abstraction; 
excavation below 8.5 metres below ground level; and certain uses; and a memorial has been placed on the titles in that regard. It is anticipated that the results of the groundwater monitoring will be 
adequate to demonstrate that further remediation will not be required.  
Champion Lakes Regatta Centre Dispute

The MRA was served with a writ of summons on 12 June 2013.The writ sets out a damages claim arising out of an assertion of trespass to an interest in certain land purportedly created by way of 
adverse possession prior to 2007. Ownership of the land, the subject matter of the claim, was transferred from the MRA to VenuesWest in January 2014 and forms part of the Champion Lakes Regatta 
Centre which was constructed in 2007. 

The State Solicitor’s Office is acting for the MRA and VenuesWest to defend the action. A hearing was held in March 2014 on a preliminary point that had a partly successful outcome, in that the 
Plaintiff’s action will no longer be proceeding over all of the land the subject of its original claim. However, the judgment on that preliminary point indicates that the claim can proceed in relation to 
the land originally owned by the City of Armadale - the area on which Wright Lake was situated. The next phase of the action will involve the question of whether or not the Plaintiff had successfully 
established a possessory title as at 2007. On what has been provided by the Plaintiff to date in terms of evidence, this seems doubtful. Only if the Plaintiff succeeds in that task will the issue of trespass 
arise, which will involve the question of quantification of damages. In that event, a valuation of the revised area of land which is now the subject of the claim will be undertaken.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

30. Explanatory Statement
This statement provides details of any significant variations between estimates (as per the Ministerially approved Business Plan 2014/15) and 
actual results for 2015 and between the actuals results for 2015 and 2014 are shown below.  Significant variations are considered to be those 
greater than 5% and $5 million.

 2015 
Actual

$000

 2015 
Estimates

$000
Variance

$000
Income   
Sales Revenue 29,016 89,968 (60,952)
Developer Contribution Fees 7,040 14,708 (7,668)
Other Revenue 61,774 636 61,138
Grants and Contributions from other Govt Agencies 2,581 13,865 (11,284)
Expense
Cost of Sales 3,827 130,169 (126,342)
Other Expenses 62,135 43,304 18,831
(Other Expenses include Supplies and Services, Developer Contribution Expenses, Infrastructure Development 
Expense, Write Down of Inventory and other Expense items).

Income:
Sales revenue was lower than estimated due to delays in settlement on sites within the Central Perth Redevelopment Area which were budgeted in 2014/15.

Developer Contribution Fees are lower than expected due to the number of development applications lodged by developers.

Other revenue is higher than forecast primarily due to non-cash items such as the asset revaluation increment and the reallocation of rechargeable works from equity to income. The asset revaluation 
increment relates to the reclassification of a number of items from inventory, which were recorded at cost, to investment property which have subsequently been valued at fair value.

Grants and Contributions from other Government Agencies are lower than forecast due to lower expenditure on projects funded by Contributions from other Government Agencies.

Expenses:
Cost of sales was lower than the estimate due to settlements being deferred until 2015/16 and an adjustment to the estimated costs of sale recorded in the prior year.

Other Expenses variance is primarily due to items which are unable to be accurately budgeted prior to the completion of the financial year – in particular inventory write downs and infrastructure 
development expenses, which both rely on market movements and are independently assessed at the end of each financial period.
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30. Explanatory Statement (continued)
Significant variances between actual results for 2015 and 2014

 2015 
Actual

$000

 2014 
Actual

$000
Variance

$000
Income   
Sales Revenue 29,016 76,122 (47,106)
Expense
Cost of Sales 3,827 73,061 (69,234)
Infrastructure development expense 9,633 25,073 (15,440)
Write down of Inventory to NRV 30,410 5,362 25,048

Income:
Sales revenue was lower than the previous financial year primarily due to one high value sale in the Central Perth Redevelopment Area which completed in 2013/14.

Expenses:
Cost of sales was lower in 2014/15 due to the sale of one lot in the Central Perth Redevelopment Area during 2013/14.

Infrastructure development expense variance relates to a higher transfer from inventory to expenses in the prior financial period.

Inventory write-down was higher in the current financial period due to market movements and changes to expectations of future use.

31. Financial Instruments
(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
Financial instruments held by the Authority are cash and cash equivalents held at bank, receivables, finance leases, payables and borrowings.  The Authority has limited exposure to financial risks.  
The Authority’s overall risk management program focuses on managing the risks identified below. The Authority’s overall risk management program focuses on managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Authority’s receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Authority. The maximum exposure to credit risk at 
end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any provisions for impairment, as shown in the table at Note 
31(c) ‘Financial Instruments Disclosures’ and Note 13 ‘Receivables’. The Authority trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Authority has policies in place to ensure that sales of 
products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Authority’s exposure to bad 
debts is minimal. At the end of the reporting period, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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31. Financial Instruments (continued)
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when the Authority is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Authority is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business. The 
Authority’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of loans. The Authority has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows by monitoring 
forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the Authority’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The 
Authority does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks. The Authority’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relate primarily to the long-term 
debt obligations. The Authority’s borrowings are all obtained through the Western Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC) and are at variable rates with varying maturities. The risk is managed by 
WATC through portfolio diversification and variation in maturity dates. Other than as detailed in the Interest rate sensitivity analysis table at note 31(c), the Authority is not exposed to interest rate risk 
because apart from minor amounts of restricted cash, all other cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are non-interest bearing and have no borrowings other than the Treasurer’s advance 
(non-interest bearing), WATC borrowings and finance leases (fixed interest rate).

(b) Categories of Financial Instruments
In addition to cash, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the 
reporting period are as follows:

2015
$000

2014
$000

Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents: bank account
Restricted Cash  18,977  14,355
Receivables (i)  11,753  6,320

 17,904  4,344
Financial Liabilities
Payables
Borrowings  26,285  15,654
Income in advance  269,624  214,830
Other Liabilities  159  228

 1,239  303
(i) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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31. Financial Instruments (continued)
(c) Financial Instrument Disclosures
Credit Risk
The following table discloses the Authority’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets.  The Authority’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting 
period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below.  The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets.  The table is 
based on information provided to senior management of the Authority.

Ageing analysis of financial assets
                       Past due but not impaired

Carrying amount
$000

Not past due and 
not impaired

$000
Up to 1 month

$000

1-3 
months 

$000

3 months  
to 1 year

$000 
1-5 years 

$000

More than  
5 years 

$000

Impaired 
financial assets

$000
Financial assets:    
30 June 2015
Cash and Cash Equivalents  18,977  18,977  -    -    -    -    -    - 
Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents                             11,753  11,753  -    -    -    -    -    - 
Receivables (i) 17,904 17,869  11  -    24  -    -   -

 48,634  48,599  11  -    24  -  -  -   
Financial assets:
30 June 2014
Cash and Cash Equivalents: bank account  14,354  14,354  -  -  -  -  -  -   
Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents                             6,320  6,320  -  -  -  -  -  -   
Receivables (i)  4,344  4,329  -  8  -  -  -  7 

 25,018  25,003  -  8  -  -  -  7 

(i) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015



95FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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31. Financial Instruments (continued)
Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure
The following table details the Authority’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities.  The table includes interest and principal cashflows.

Interest rate exposures and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities
                       Interest rate exposure Maturity date

Weighted 
av. effective 
interest rate

$000

Carrying 
amount

$000

Fixed 
Interest 

Rate
$000       

Variable 
Interest 

Rate
$000

Non Interest  
Bearing

$000

Adjustment  
for 

discounting
$000

Total 
nominal 
account

$000

Up to 3 
months

$000

3 - 12 
months

$000
1 - 2 years

$000
2 - 5 years

$000

More than  
5 years

$000
2015   
Financial assets:   
Cash and Cash Equivalents 1.95%  18,977  15,757 -  3,220 -  18,977 - - - - -
Restricted Cash and Cash 
Equivalents                            

1.95%  11,753  11,753 - - -  11,753 - - - - -

Receivables (i) 17,904 - -  17,904 - 17,904 -  7,427 2,000 6,430 2,047
 48,634  27,510  -    21,124  -    48,634 -  7,427 2,000   6,430   2,047   

Financial liabilities:
Payables  26,285 - -  26,285 -  26,285  26,035 - - -  250 
Borrowings (b) 3.03%  269,624 - - - -  269,624 2,044 6,133 8,426 26,842 269,624
Income in advance  159 - -  159 -  159  159 - - - -
Other Liabilities  1,239 - -  1,239 -  1,239 - - - - -

 297,307  - -  27,683  -  297,307  28,238 6,133  8,426 26,842  269,874 
2014   
Financial assets:   
Cash and Cash Equivalents 1.95%  14,354  5,154 -  9,200 -  14,354 - - - - -
Restricted Cash and Cash 
Equivalents                            

1.95%  6,320  6,320 - - -  6,320 - - - - -

Receivables (i)  4,344 - -  4,344 -  4,344  4,344 - - - -
 25,018  11,474  -    13,544  -    25,018  4,344  -    -    -    -   

Financial liabilities:
Payables  15,327  -    -    15,327  -    15,327  14,347  -    -    30  950 
Borrowings (b) 3.03%  214,830  -   -  -    -    214,830  670  2,010  2,680 217,510  -   
Income in advance  228  -    -    228  -    228  228  -    -    -    -   
Other Liabilities  303  -    -    303  -    303  303  -    -    -    -   

 230,688  - -  15,858  -  230,688  15,548  2,010  2,680 217,540  950 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

31. Financial Instruments (continued)
Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Authority’s financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period on the surplus for the period and equity for a 
100 basis point change in interest rates. It is assumed that the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period.

-100 basis points +100 basis points
Carrying Amount

$000
Surplus

$000
Equity

$000
Surplus

$000
Equity

$000

30 June 2015 
Financial assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents: bank account  18,977  (190)  (190)  190  190 
Restricted Cash  11,753  (118)  (118)  118  118 
Receivables  17,904  (179)  (179)  179  179 
Financial liabilities:
Payables (i)  26,285  263  263  (263)  (263)
Borrowings  269,624  2,696  2,696  (2,696)  (2,696)
Income in advance  159  2  2  (2)  (2)
Other Liabilities  1,239  12  12  (12)  (12)
Total Increase / (Decrease)  2,486  2,486  (2,486)  (2,486)

30 June 2014
Financial assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents: bank account  10,850  (109)  (109)  109  109 
Restricted Cash  9,825  (98)  (98)  98  98 
Receivables  3,988  (40)  (40)  40  40 
Financial liabilities:
Payables (i)  15,327  153  153  (153)  (153)
Borrowings  214,830  2,148  2,148  (2,148)  (2,148)
Income in advance  228  2  2  (2)  (2)
Other Liabilities  303  3  3  (3)  (3)
Total Increase / (Decrease)  2,059  2,059  (2,059)  (2,059)

(i) The amount of financial liabilities measured at amortised cost excludes GST payable to the ATO (statutory payable).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

31. Financial Instruments (continued)
(d) Fair Values
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation 
of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.

32. Remuneration of members of the Accountable Authority and senior officers
2015
$000

2014
$000

Remuneration of Members of the Accountable Authority
$0 - $10,000             16                 17 
$20,001 - $30,000              -                      1 
$30,001 - $40,000               4                    4 
$40,001 - $50,000               2                    1 
$50,001 - $60,000               1                    1 

            23                 24 

Base remuneration and superannuation 299 281
Annual leave and long service leave accruals                   -                     -   
Other benefits                   -                     -   
Total remuneration                299                281 
The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Authority in respect of members of the Accountable Authority.  

Remuneration of Senior Officers
The number of senior officers, other than senior officers reported as members of the Accountable Authority, whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for 
the financial period fall within the following bands are:
$160,001 - $170,000                     2 -
$180,001 - $190,000                     1                     2 
$190,001 - $200,000 -                     1 
$210,001 - $220,000                     1                     1 
$260,001 - $270,000                     1 -
$280,001 - $290,001 -                     1 

                    5                     5 
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32. Remuneration of members of the Accountable Authority and senior officers (continued)
2015
$000

2014
$000

Base remuneration and superannuation 1,022 1,006
Annual leave and long service leave accruals                (36) 55
Other benefits - -
Total remuneration                986            1,061 
The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Authority in respect of senior officers other than senior officers reported as members of the Accountable Authority.

33. Remuneration of Auditors
Remuneration payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial period is as follows:
Auditing the accounts, financial statements and key performance indicators 51                     50 

 51                     50 

34. Supplementary financial Information
(a) Write Offs
Public Property and bad debts written-off by the Board during the period were less than $1,000.
(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes
Losses of public money and public and other property through theft or default were less than $1,000.
(c) Gifts of public property
No gifts of public property were provided by the Authority.

35. Resources received free of charge
During the period the following resources were provided to the agency free of charge for functions outside the normal operations of the Authority:   
Western Australia Land Information Authority (Landgate) -                       1 
State Solicitors Office 105 -

 105                       1 

36. Related bodies
The Authority has no related bodies.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
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CERTIFICATION OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

We hereby certify that the Key Performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the  
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority’s performance, and fairly represent the performance of the  Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority  
for the financial year ended 30 June 2015.  

Richard Muirhead Jeff Dowling Kieran Kinsella  
Chairperson Deputy Chairperson Chief Executive Officer  

Date: 26 August 2015



The MRA’s Agency Level Desired Outcome is: 
‘To deliver vibrant, attractive and active Redevelopment Areas by building a Sense 
of Place, enhancing Connectivity and Environmental Integrity, and promoting 
Economic Well Being, Urban Efficiency, and Social Inclusion through providing for 
the planning and redevelopment of those areas.’ 

This Outcome is guided by the MRA Redevelopment Objectives as prescribed in the Metropolitan Redevelopment 
Authority Regulations 2011. Regulation 14 Redevelopment Area Objectives: s.30(5)(c) states:

The objectives of each redevelopment area are as follows, to — 
• build a sense of place by supporting high quality urban design, heritage protection, public art and cultural activities 

that respond to Perth’s environment, climate and lifestyle;
• promote economic wellbeing by supporting, where appropriate, development that facilitates investment and provides 

opportunity for local businesses and emerging industries to satisfy market demand;
• promote urban efficiency through infrastructure and buildings, the mix of land use and facilitating a critical mass of 

population and employment;
• enhance connectivity and reduce the need to travel by supporting development aimed at well designed places that 

support walking, cycling and public transit;
• promote social inclusion by encouraging, where appropriate, a diverse range of housing and by supporting 

community infrastructure and activities and opportunities for visitors and residents to socialise; and
• enhance environmental integrity by encouraging ecologically sustainable design, resource efficiency, recycling, 

renewable energy and protection of the local ecology.

The Redevelopment Objectives define the outcomes that the MRA intends to deliver within its Redevelopment 
Areas. These Redevelopment Objectives apply to all of the MRA’s Project Areas within its Redevelopment Areas.  

A single set of Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s) is in place to measure the delivery of these Redevelopment 
Objectives. Each Redevelopment Objective is represented by a KPI that best reflects the individual Redevelopment 
Objective, and each KPI attempts to provide a useful measurement at any stage of the project cycle.

KEY 
PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS

100 KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
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To build a sense of place by 
supporting high quality urban 
design, heritage protection, 
public art, and cultural  
activities that respond to  
Perth’s environment, climate 
and lifestyle.

User Satisfaction
The concept of Sense of 
Place is best experienced and 
enunciated by the users of the 
redevelopment area. In order 
to measure sense of place, it 
is acknowledged that each 
redevelopment area, project 
and its associated precinct 
are at different stages of 
development and in turn, may 
not be suitable for surveying. 
User satisfaction will measure 
the level of satisfaction of the 
users of the Redevelopment 
Areas.

Delivery of Major Projects
Key Efficiency Indicator - Overheads to Inventory and Profit
The MRA exists to acquire land, develop land and sell land. The costs it incurs to deliver these 
services speaks to the efficiency of the organisation. The inventory of land assets held and the gross 
profit achieved through sales are two of the main metrics applicable to the MRA so a ratio of these 
metrics relative to the net operational overheads will track the efficiency of the Authority over time.

Statutory Planning Control
Key Efficiency Indicator - Statutory Planning Determination Timeframes
Determining Statutory applications is one of the most important and visible services the MRA provides to 
external parties who wish to develop in the Redevelopment Area. The efficiency of these services is tied 
directly to critical services delivery and has the ability to impact the MRA reputation.

To promote economic  
wellbeing by supporting, 
where appropriate, 
development that facilitates 
investment and provides 
opportunities for local 
businesses and emerging 
industries to satisfy market 
demand.

Investment Generated
The MRA invests money 
into redevelopment areas to 
stimulate the investment by 
other parties into the area. 
The proportion of investment 
made by private industry and/
or non MRA government bodies 
into the redevelopment area 
is an indicative measure of 
the economic activity that has 
been produced from the MRA 
investment.

To promote urban efficiency 
through infrastructure and 
buildings, the mix of land use 
and facilitating a critical mass 
of population and employment.

Land Use Volume & Mix
A critical mass of population 
is best measured through the 
capacity of buildings produced 
through the redevelopment. 
These measures must include 
the mix of land use – residential, 
commercial, retail and industrial 
that might be included in MRA 
Redevelopment Areas.

To promote social inclusion 
for various people in the 
redevelopment area by 
requiring diverse and  
affordable housing and 
supporting community 
infrastructure, activities and 
opportunities for visitors and 
residents to socialise.

Housing Stock Diversity
Redevelopment areas require 
a mixture of housing sizes 
to ensure the needs of the 
demographic mix of an area 
are catered for and to ensure 
consistency of measurements. 
Housing Stock Diversity will 
be based on the number of 
bedrooms in a dwelling. This 
will represent a range of size of 
dwellings. The diversity of the 
housing stock delivered by the 
MRA in the redevelopment area 
is the most accurate measure to 
gauge social inclusion.

To enhance connectivity by 
supporting development aimed 
at well-designed places that 
support walking, cycling and 
public transit.

Public Transit Access
Access of residents, workers 
and visitors to public transport 
options is an important gauge 
of connectivity within the 
redevelopment area.

To enhance environmental 
integrity by encouraging 
ecologically sustainable design, 
resource efficiency, recycling, 
renewable energy and 
protection of the local ecology.

Green Star Rating
The Green Star Rating 
system provides a measure 
of the environmental integrity 
and efficiency of the built 
form developed with the 
redevelopment area. This 
measure will demonstrate 
the environmental integrity 
and efficiency of commercial 
buildings.

REDEVELOPMENT AREA OBJECTIVES  

KEY EFFECTIVENESS INDICATORS

SERVICES

Sense of Place Economic 
Wellbeing

Urban Efficiency Social Inclusion Connectivity Environmental 
Integrity

AGENCY DESIRED OUTCOMES



Approval of the inaugural Key 
Performance Indicators for the MRA 
was received on 20 June 2013.  
In an effort to measure the effect that the MRA 
is having on the Perth Metropolitan area, it was 
determined that baseline measurements be 
undertaken to provide a comparable basis for future 
measurements, in order to quantify the progress 
of achievements over the life of the Projects within 
the five MRA Redevelopment Areas. 2014-15 targets 
for the MRA’s Key Performance Indicators have 
been approved by the Board. The 2013-14 results are 
included to provide a comparison with the 2014-15 
targets and actual score.

It is noted that the Scarborough Master Plan was 
approved by the MRA Board at its June 2015 meeting, 
and the targets for the Scarborough redevelopment 
area will be set for the 2015-16 reporting year.

TARGETS
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103KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

2012/13  
Baseline

2013/14  
Actual Score

2014/15 
Target

2014/15 
Actual Score

AnalysisKey Performance Indicator

User Satisfaction
User Satisfaction against:
- Project area quality
- Project area amenity
- Project area vitality

Investment Generated
$ value of non-MRA investment compared 
to MRA investment.

Land Use Volume and Mix
Number of approved Development 
Application residential units

Square metres of approved commercial, 
retail and industrial space

Housing Stock Diversity
Percentage of approved diverse 
residential dwellings according 
to number of bedrooms (1, 2 and 3 
bedroom). 

Public Transit Access
Number of approved dwellings within 
walkable catchment of public transport 
nodes/stops. 

Green Star Rating
Number of (4-6) Green star rated (or 
equivalent) buildings.

90%

100%

1 : 0.56

41

1 bed

4 Star 4 Star 4 Star

14.6%

4 4 4

67.8% 20% 57%1 bed 1 bed 1 bed

2 bed

5 Star 5 Star 5 Star

48.8%

2 0 0

27.9% 40% 36.5%2 bed 2 bed 2 bed

3+ bed

6 Star 6 Star 6 Star

36.6%

0 0 0

4.3% 10% 6.5%3+ bed 3+ bed 3+ bed

494 698 units 46 units

36,808m2 22,853m2 48,325m2 8,607m2

Not Applicable

494 dwellings 
(100%) 

2.3 : 1

Not Applicable

698 dwellings

6

$359,184,175
:
$193,599,000

Not Applicable

46 dwellings 
(100%) 

$136,777,000
:
$184,635,055

Not Applicable 2014/15.  The Survey is conducted at the initiation of each project 
to establish a baseline then conducted again once the project is normalised 
or every five years whichever is the earlier.  The Survey was conducted in the 
2012/13 year and therefore is not required to be conducted in the 2014/15 year.

Private Investment $136,777,000
MRA Investment $184,635,055
Two major development applications were received later than expected and as a 
result were not determined in 2014/15 as predicted.

Two major development applications were received later than expected 
and as a result were not determined in 2014/15 as predicted.

Development is responding to changing demographics and market demand to 
provide a greater number of single and two bedroom apartments.

Two major applications were delayed and the number of dwellings was less 
than the target. All approved dwellings were within the walkable catchment of 
public transport nodes/stops.

Two major development applications were received later than expected and as 
a result were not determined in 2014/15 as predicted.

CENTRAL PERTH REDEVELOPMENT AREA

The Central Perth Redevelopment Area comprises the Elizabeth Quay, Perth City Link, Riverside, Perth Cultural Centre, New Northbridge, Claisebrook Village and East Perth Power Station Project Areas.
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2012/13  
Baseline

2013/14  
Actual Score

2014/15 
Target

2014/15 
Actual Score

AnalysisKey Performance Indicator

User Satisfaction
User Satisfaction against:
- Project area quality
- Project area amenity
- Project area vitality

Investment Generated
$ value of non-MRA investment compared 
to MRA investment.

Land Use Volume and Mix
Number of approved Development 
Application residential units

Square metres of approved commercial, 
retail and industrial space

Housing Stock Diversity
Percentage of approved diverse 
residential dwellings according 
to number of bedrooms (1, 2 and 3 
bedroom). 

Public Transit Access
Number of approved dwellings within 
walkable catchment of public transport 
nodes/stops. 

Green Star Rating
Number of (4-6) Green star rated (or 
equivalent) buildings.

80%

17%

1:0.02

83

1 bed

4 Star 4 Star

0%

0 0

0.6% 10% 0%1 bed 1 bed 1 bed

2 bed

5 Star 5 Star

0%

0 0

2.6% 20% 2.4%2 bed 2 bed 2 bed

3+ bed

6 Star 6 Star

100%

0 0

96.8% 30% 97.6%3+ bed 3+ bed 3+ bed

190 units 370 units 241 units

75,366m2 34,879 m2 65,000 m2 50,103 m2 

Not Applicable

49 dwellings 
(25.8%)

11:8:1

Not Applicable

110

0

$111,492,000
 : 
$20,534,000 

Not Applicable

81 (33.6%)

0

$226,755,179
:
$4,822,000

Not Applicable 2014/15. The Survey is conducted at the initiation of each project 
to establish a baseline then conducted again once the project is normalised 
or every five years whichever is the earlier.  The Survey was conducted in the 
2012/13 year and therefore is not required to be conducted in the 2014/15 year.

Private Investment $226,775,179
MRA Investment $4,822,000
The increase in private investment is due to the Hitachi development in 
Forrestdale Business Park West ($95 million) and a high number of development 
applications being received.

The 2014/15 forecasts assumed that the structure plans for Wungong 
Cell D, Cell F and Cell J would be finalised. It is now anticipated they will 
be finalised in 2015/16.

The 241 dwellings are located within the Wungong Urban Water, Champion 
Drive and Champion Lakes Precincts. The high number of three bedroom 
dwellings is due to the dominance of single residential lots being produced 
at present within the Wungong and Armadale Redevelopment Areas to 
accommodate dwellings targeting first home buyers.

There are no public transport routes currently within a ‘walkable’ distance of 
the dwellings approved in the Wungong Urban Water Redevelopment Area. 
The 81 dwellings within a ‘walkable catchment’ of public transport nodes/stops 
represent 100% of the dwellings approved within the Champion Drive and 
Champion Lakes Precincts.

Not applicable 2014/15. No Green Star Development Policy in effect in the 
Armadale Project Area in 2014/15.

ARMADALE  REDEVELOPMENT AREA

The Armadale Redevelopment Area comprises the Armadale and Wungong Urban Project Areas.
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2012/13  
Baseline

2013/14  
Actual Score

2014/15 
Target

2014/15 
Actual Score

AnalysisKey Performance Indicator

User Satisfaction
User Satisfaction against:
- Project area quality
- Project area amenity
- Project area vitality

Investment Generated
$ value of non-MRA investment compared 
to MRA investment.

Land Use Volume and Mix
Number of approved Development 
Application residential units

Square metres of approved commercial, 
retail and industrial space

Housing Stock Diversity
Percentage of approved diverse 
residential dwellings according 
to number of bedrooms (1, 2 and 3 
bedroom). 

Public Transit Access
Number of approved dwellings within 
walkable catchment of public transport 
nodes/stops. 

Green Star Rating
Number of (4-6) Green star rated (or 
equivalent) buildings.

76%

100%

1 : 0.21 

15

1 bed

4 Star 4 Star

53.3%

1 0

0% 15% 22%1 bed 1 bed 1 bed

2 bed

5 Star 5 Star

40%

0 0

100% 40% 78%2 bed 2 bed 2 bed

3+ bed

6 Star 6 Star

6.7%

0 0

0% 20%  0%3+ bed 3+ bed 3+ bed

9 242 units 73 units

8,485m2 0m2 4,500 m2 7,408 m2

Not Applicable

9 dwellings 
(100%)

1.2 : 1

Not Applicable

242

0

$29,991,000 
: 
$7,872,000

Not Applicable

73 dwellings 
(100%) 

0

$35,640,502
:
$4,950,000

Not Applicable 2014/15. The Survey is conducted at the initiation of each project 
to establish a baseline then conducted again once the project is normalised 
or every five years whichever is the earlier.  The Survey was conducted in the 
2012/13 year and therefore is not required to be conducted in the 2014/15 year.

Private Investment $35,640,502
MRA Investment $4,950,000
Development is responding to the approval of the Midland Master Plan and 
scheduled opening of the Midland Health Campus on 24 November 2015.  

A number of development applications for residential development that were 
expected to be lodged and/or determined in the 2014/15 period did not eventuate 
or have not yet been determined.  Non-residential development on land in private 
ownership increased in response to the regeneration of the Midland Town Centre 
and the scheduled opening of the Midland Health Campus on 24 November 2015.

Development is responding to changing demographics and market demand to 
provide a greater number of single bedroom and two bedroom apartments.

100% of the Midland Redevelopment Area is located within a walkable 
catchment for public transport.

Not applicable 2014/15.  No Green Star Development Policy in effect in the 
Midland Project Area in 2014/15.

MIDLAND REDEVELOPMENT AREA

The Midland Redevelopment Area comprises the Midland Project Area.
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2012/13  
Baseline

2013/14  
Actual Score

2014/15 
Target

2014/15 
Actual Score

AnalysisKey Performance Indicator

User Satisfaction
User Satisfaction against:
- Project area quality
- Project area amenity
- Project area vitality

Investment Generated
$ value of non-MRA investment 
compared to MRA investment.

Land Use Volume and Mix
Number of approved Development 
Application residential units

Square metres of approved commercial, 
retail and industrial space

Housing Stock Diversity
Percentage of approved diverse 
residential dwellings according 
to number of bedrooms (1, 2 and 3 
bedroom). 

Public Transit Access
Number of approved dwellings within 
walkable catchment of public transport 
nodes/stops. 

Green Star Rating
Number of (4-6) Green star rated (or 
equivalent) buildings.

82%

100% 

1 : 0.03

101

1 bed

4 Star 4 Star 4 Star

49.5%

1 2 4*

32.5% 20% 57%1 bed 1 bed 1 bed

2 bed

5 Star 5 Star 5 Star

41.7%

0 0 0

57% 50% 36.5%2 bed 2 bed 2 bed

3+ bed

6 Star 6 Star 6 Star

8.8%

0 0 0

10.5% 10% 6.5% 3+ bed 3+ bed 3+ bed

323 119 units 126 units

345m2 7,866m2 16,021 m2 12, 895 m2 

Not Applicable

323 dwellings 
(100%)

91 : 1

Not Applicable

119 

1

$55,377,582
: 
$131,000

Not Applicable

126 dwellings 
(100%)

$73,850,000
:
$590,000

Not Applicable 2014/15. The Survey is conducted at the initiation of each 
project to establish a baseline then conducted again once the project is 
normalised or every five years whichever is the earlier.  The Survey was 
conducted in the 2012/13 year and therefore is not required to be conducted in 
the 2014/15 year.

Private Investment $73,850,000 
MRA Investment $590,000
The value and number of residential development applications received was 
higher than expected within 2014/15 year.

Large retail/commercial development approved on Station Street Market site 
impacted on predicted land use/dwelling mix.

Development is responding to changing demographics and market demand to 
provide a greater number of single and two bedroom apartments. 

100% of the Subiaco Redevelopment Area is located within a walkable 
catchment for public transport.

One 4 Star Green Star commercial building was approved and 3 
residential developments have been approved to achieve an equivalent 
6 Stat NatHers rating*. 

SUBIACO REDEVELOPMENT AREA

The Central Perth Redevelopment Area comprises the Elizabeth Quay, Perth City Link, Riverside, Perth Cultural Centre, New Northbridge, Claisebrook Village and East Perth Power Station Project Areas.
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SERVICES
2012/13  
Baseline

2013/14  
Actual Score

2014/15 
Target

2014/15 
Actual Score

AnalysisServices

Delivery of major projects within MRA 
Redevelopment Areas
Key Performance Indicator
Ratio of net operational overheads to 
average inventory plus gross profit 

Statutory Planning Control
Key Performance Indicator
Median determination timeframe in days 
for Development Applications (standard 
and major), subdivision applications and 
structure plans 

11%

59 days

11%

68 days 
(standard)
113 days (major)

3.62%

90 days 
(standard)
120 days (major) 

10%

Central 
Perth

Subi

Armadale

Midland

The 2014/15 KPI remains consistent with the prior year. The 2013/14 
figure has been adjusted to allow for the appropriate gross profit 
figure and rechargeable works. The 2014/15 target established on 
the formation of the MRA is subject to review.

Four major development applications were received within the 
Central Perth Redevelopment Area. All required design changes and 
the MRA agreed to extend the determination timeframe to give the 
applicant additional time to amend plans.

One major development application was received within the 
Armadale Redevelopment Area which required design revisions. 
The MRA agreed to extend the determination timeframe to give the 
applicant additional time to amend plans.

One major development application was received within the 
Midland Redevelopment Area which required design revisions. 
The MRA agreed to extend the determination timeframe to give the 
applicant additional time to amend plans.

Standard 75

Standard 60

Standard 41

Standard 87

Major 196

Major 184

Major 363

Major 145

* Section 65(2) of the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Act 2011 requires major Development Applications be approved within 120 days after the date on which the application is received. 
**  Section 65(2) of the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Act 2011 requires standard Development Applications to be approved within 90 days after the date on which the application is received.
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User Satisfaction
The survey is conducted at the initiation of each project to 
establish a baseline then once the project is normalised or 
every five years whichever is the earlier. The survey was 
conducted in the 2012-13 year and therefore is not required 
to be conducted in 2014-15. The MRA has a target of 66 per 
cent for the overall life of each redevelopment area.

Investment Generated
Results derived by:

MRA Investment:
• Amount capitalised as inventory.
• Plus any capitalised work on the MRA’s investment 

properties.
• Plus the cost of works done by the MRA for other 

government agencies.

Non-MRA Investment:
• Development Applications approved in the period  

were filtered by redevelopment area, then by project  
and precinct.

• A ratio is then sought after both non-MRA investment and 
MRA investment has been calculated.

• The ratio has been expressed in dollar value for this 
reporting period, to provide clarity on actual investment.

• The formula is value of non-MRA investment ($) 
compared to MRA investment ($).

Urban Efficiency
Number of approved development applications for 
residential units
• This was demonstrated by the number of approved 

Development Applications for residential, mixed use, 
change of use to residential and amendments approved 
in the last financial year per redevelopment area, then by 
project and precinct.

Square metres of approved development applications for 
commercial, retail, industrial etc. space
• This was demonstrated by the number of Development 

Applications approved in the last financial year per 
redevelopment area, then by project and precinct.

• Development Applications for small additions such as 
patios and fencing were not included.

• Details of all approved floor space for applications were 
obtained from the Planning and Contract of Sale system 
(PACS).

Social Inclusion
• Only Development Applications approved in the last 

financial year per redevelopment area, then by project and 
precinct were included.

• The Development Applications were for residential, mixed 
use, change of use to residential and amendments to 
Development Applications. 

• Development Applications for mixed use developments 
which did not include residential or applications for 
transient residential such as hotel uses were not included.

• For all applications prior to 1 January 2014, individual files 
and relevant planning reports were reviewed for each 
relevant Development Application to determine dwelling 
statistics.

• Dwelling statistics for all approved residential dwellings 
were obtained from PACS. 
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Connectivity
• Results derived by using only:

 − Residential and Mixed Use Development Applications;
 − Approved Development Applications;
 − Development Applications approved in 2014-15 financial 
year were selected.

• Straight Line Distance Analysis
 − Development Applications which were within walkable 
400metres distance of a bus stop and/or 800metres of 
transit stops were analysed.    

• Walkable Distance Analysis  
 − The list of Development Application lots within a 
straight line 400metres to 800metres distance of a 
transit stop were assessed to see if they were within 
400metres to 800metres via the road network. This was 
undertaken using Google Maps measurement tool as the 
transit stops are visible on Google Maps.

• Final count of applicable Development Applications 
within walkable distance of transit stops by scheme area.

 − The list of applicable Development Applications within 
walkable distance of transit was then sorted by project 
area.

Environmental Integrity
• Results derived by only including Development 

Applications approved in the last financial year for each 
redevelopment area and then by project area and precinct.

• These results were further refined by including only 
Development Applications for new commercial, industrial, 
mixed use, community or residential units excluding 
single dwellings.

• Green-Star conditions are only imposed when 
constructing new buildings.

• Development approvals and individual files were reviewed 
to determine whether a (4/5/6 star) Green-Star rating was 
imposed as a condition of the approval.

Statutory Planning Control
• The measure utilised was the average timeframe (in days) 

within which Development Applications (standard and 
major) were determined and applicants notified.

• Subdivision applications are determined by the Western 
Australian Planning Commission (WAPC) within the 
Armadale Redevelopment Area, with the WAPC providing 
the MRA with a 42-day referral period prior to them 
making a determination.



Ministerial Directives
Section 115(1) of the Act provides 

“the Minister may give written directions to the Authority with 
respect to the performance of its functions under this or any 
other Act, either generally or in relation to a particular matter, 
and the Authority must give effect to any such direction when it 
becomes effective under section 116.”

The MRA received no Ministerial directives from 1 July 2014 
to 30 June 2015.

Ministerial Recommendations
Section 29(1) of the Act states 

“the Governor must not make regulations under section 30 
or 31 that declare land to be, or add land to a Redevelopment 
Area except on the recommendation of the Minister”.

Section 29(5) of the Act provides 

“if the Minister recommends the making of regulations the 
content of which is, in the Minister’s opinion, significantly 
different to any recommendations made by the Western 
Australian Planning Commission under this section, the 
Minister must cause notice of the difference to be laid before 
each House of Parliament or dealt with under section 132 of the 
Act, within 14 days on which the Minister’s recommendation 
is given.”

The MRA received no Ministerial recommendations of this 
nature from 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015.

Ministerial Approvals
Section 47(4) of the Act provides 

“if the Minister approves a draft redevelopment scheme the 
content of which is, in the Minister’s opinion, significantly 
different to any recommendation given by the Western 
Australian Planning Commission under section 46, the 
Minister must cause notice of the difference to be laid before 
each House of Parliament or dealt with under section 132 of the 
Act, with 14 days after the scheme start day.”

The MRA received no Ministerial approvals of this nature 
from 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015.

Pricing Policies
In accordance with the Metropolitan Redevelopment 
Authority Regulations 2011, the MRA provides planning 
services in accordance with fees prescribed at Schedule 5 of 
the Regulations.

Staff Development 
The MRA understands that in order to deliver innovative 
urban redevelopment, a highly capable, competent and 
motivated team is required. The MRA values its staff and 
continually seeks to identify and provide opportunities 
for staff to develop their personal and professional 
competencies.

MRA staff have attended over 600 hours of role specific 
professional development courses, as well as courses 
aimed at developing broader capabilities to enhance future 
management career opportunities, including the attendance 
at Diploma of Advanced Management, Accountable Ethical 
Decision Making and Cultural Awareness Training sessions. 

The MRA Workforce and Diversity Plan 2013 to 2017 has 
been developed to provide the MRA with a strategic focus to 

enhance productivity through development and retention 
of high quality people and to foster an inclusive workforce 
culture.

By focusing on the recruitment and retention of highly 
capable staff, the MRA will continue to strive to be an 
employer of choice.

Workers Compensation
One worker’s compensation claim was ongoing during the 
financial year.  

Policies, procedures and programs to 
assist employees
The MRA has a number of policies and programs that 
enhances a positive working environment, this includes the 
following: 
• Workforce Diversity Plan 2013-2017
• Workplace Policy 
• Home Based Work Policy
• Hours and Flexible Working Arrangements Policy
• Injury Management Policy
• Defence Force Leave Policy 
• Education and Professional Membership Assistance
• Eyesight Screening and Testing Policy
• Occupational safety and Health Policy 
• Purchased Leave 42-52 Salary Arrangement Policy 
• Wellness Strategy 
• Compass (new Performance Management System)

Governance Disclosures
All MRA Board and Committee agendas have a standing 
item, which invites Board and Committee members 
to declare conflicts of interest in accordance with the 
requirements of section 92 of the Act.

DISCLOSURES AND LEGAL COMPLIANCE
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The MRA’s contract administration system requires senior 
officers to declare interests in any existing or proposed 
contracts they are involved in administering. During the 
2014-15 year, one interest was declared.

All interests declared during the 2014-15 period have been 
recorded on the MRA’s Interest’s Register.

During 2014-15, the MRA paid $47,880 (excluding GST) 
for insurance to indemnify its directors as defined in part 
3 of the Statutory Corporations (Liability of Directors) Act 
1996 against liability incurred under sections 13 or 14 of the 
Statutory Corporations (Liability of Directors) Act 1996.

The Public Sector Commissioner’s Contact with Lobbyist’s 
Code and Contact with Lobbyist’s Register have been 
developed to ensure that contact between lobbyists and 
government is conducted in accordance with public 
expectations of transparency, integrity, accountability and 
honesty. The MRA has a Contact with Lobbyists Policy which 
ensures that all staff are aware of the requirements of the 
Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular 2009-13, and comply 
with the obligations detailed in the Contact with Lobbyist 
Code. The MRA records all lobbyist contact on a Contact 
with Lobbyist Register. 

Major Capital Projects 
Please refer to Agency Performance for information about 
the MRA’s major capital projects. 

Substantive Equality
While the MRA is not required to set out in its annual report 
the progress achieved in implementing the policy framework 
for substantive equality, it is committed to substantive 
equality and has developed a number of initiatives aimed at 
increasing social inclusion and diversity. Examples of these 
include the preparation of planning policies facilitating the 
development of affordable, diverse, universally accessible 
and adaptable housing.  

Occupational Safety and Health
The MRA is committed to responsible and effective 
management of Occupational Safety and Health (OSH) 
in all aspects of its functions. The MRA values the safety 
and health of its people, contractors, customers and other 
stakeholders affected by the work it undertakes and the 
property it is involved with. Ongoing development and 
improvement of the OSH Management System is a key focus 
of the MRA Executive Committee. 

The OSH Management System was internally audited 
against the WorkSafe Plan and the review informed the 
development of an annual action plan. It will be internally 
audited against the WorkSafe Plan to evaluate progress and 
inform planning of OSH activities.  

The MRA OSH Committee provides a forum for consultation 
on safety related issues and implements a range of safety 
and health management practices including education, 
training, reporting, discussion and accountability as part of 
the OSH Management System Action Plan.  

The MRA complies with the injury management 
requirements of the Workers’ Compensation and Injury 
Management Act 1981 and has workers’ compensation, injury 
management and return to work policies, procedures and 
documentation.  

Compliance with Public Sector 
Standards and Ethical Codes 
The MRA expects employees to display a high standard 
of ethical behaviour during the course of their work and 
provides annual training sessions in accountable and ethical 
decision making. In 2014-15, the MRA held five accountable 
and ethical decisions making training sessions. As a result, 
more than 90 per cent of MRA staff have attended the 
training. The Code of Conduct and Ethics is published on the 
MRA intranet and all new employees are provided a copy 
and are familiarised with the code of conduct and ethics and 
required to declare their understanding and compliance with 
the codes.

A new Performance Management System was launched 
within the MRA, called Compass. Compass provides a 
framework for linking individuals’ performance goals with 
strategic and operational goal alignment throughout the 
agency. It enforces a synergy between our mission and 
agency’s values.

Marketing and Advertising 
In compliance with Section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, 
the MRA incurred the following expenditure in advertising, 
market research, polling, direct mail and media advertising: 

Marketing and Advertising expenditure was used 
to communicate traffic and project updates and to 
promote place making initiatives across the MRA’s five 
Redevelopment Areas. Total expenditure for the reporting 
period was $1.55 million (excluding GST). Expenditure was 
incurred in the following areas: 

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 
The MRA believes that people with disability should have the 
same opportunities as others to access the MRA’s services, 
facilities and information. In accordance with Part 5 of the 
Disability Services Act 1993, the MRA established a Disability 
Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) 2012-17 in November 2012. 

Advertising Agencies Total amounts

Rare Creative Thinking $835,072

Block Branding $34,149

Market Research Ogranisations

IPSOS Australia $57,290

Media Advertising Organisations

Mitchell & Partners Nil

Carat $568,998

AdCorp $63,428

Polling Organisations Nil

Direct Mail Organisations Nil



DAIP initiatives undertaken during 2014-15 to address  
the desired outcomes in accordance with schedule 3 of  
the Disability Services Regulations 2004 (the DS  
Regulations) were:
• Planning of all public events was undertaken  

utilising the Disability Services Commission’s (DSC) 
“Creating Accessible Events” checklist to ensure the  
venue was accessible to all ages and abilities and event 
promoters or holders provided adequate facilities for 
people with disability.  

• Employee awareness of disability and access issues 
continues to be maintained through notification to staff of 
the MRA’s DAIP developed for 2012-17.

• In November 2014, the MRA delivered its new website 
and in July 2015 it delivered its new Intranet in accordance 
with best practice which improves information access for 
people with disability.

• Online methods of community consultation are 
increasingly being utilised as they allow a wide public 
audience to participate in the consultation. 

• Following the June 2013 amendments to the Disability 
Services Regulations, the MRA’s DAIP was amended to 
include the new Outcome 7 with a strategy to ensure the 
MRA’s employment processes allow the attraction and 
retention of employees with disability. Outcome 7 formally 
commenced in the Disability Services Regulations for 
reporting purposes from 11 June 2014, tasks have been 
developed to be undertaken in 2014-15. 

• Inclusion of a new “Changing Places” toilet facilities 
strategy to ensure people with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to access the services of,  
and any events. Tasks for 2014-15 and future years have 
been included. 

Reconciliation Action Plan
In August 2013, the MRA proudly launched its first 
Reconciliation Acton Plan (RAP), formally endorsed by 
Reconciliation Australia. The Reflect RAP stage was  
chosen to allow the MRA to initially concentrate on raising 
employee awareness about the MRA’s commitment to 
reconciliation. The MRA has now launched its RAP Reflect 2 
for the 2015-16 year. 

The key highlights achieved through the RAP Reflect  
have been:
• Establishment of an internal RAP Working Group with 

meetings held quarterly.
• Welcome to Country protocols have been communicated 

throughout the organisation to ensure they are enacted 
during any public meeting or forum hosted by the MRA.

• Supporting an afternoon of events in the Perth Cultural 
Centre as part of NAIDOC Week which included a live 
broadcast from Noongar Radio, performances, traditional 
dance, bush tucker, information stalls, stories and ochre 
face painting. 

• MRA staff received Cultural Awareness Training  
facilitated by Kooya Consulting. This training is held 
annually to offer new staff an opportunity to attend.

• Following the naming of Yagan Square, the MRA 
continued to work with the Whadjuk Working Party 
during 2014-15 to finalise the design of this new public 
place for Perth.

• In September 2014, the former Armadale Post Office 
opened for business again as the MRA’s Armadale Office. 
This historic building has undergone a refurbishment 
and to celebrate this significant occasion, a traditional 
Aboriginal smoking ceremony was performed to cleanse 
the new space and herald a new beginning for the MRA 
and the restored Post Office.

• Investigation and preparation for future events and RAP 
approaches, to ensure the MRA is building its culture on 
the right foundations for long-term outcomes.

Record Keeping Plan
Under section 19 of the State Records Act 2000, the MRA 
has a Recordkeeping Plan which was approved by the 
State Records Commission on 6 December 2013. The MRA 
recordkeeping plan governs how the MRA captures, stores 
and manages records. 

The MRA uses an electronic documents records 
management system (EDRMS) to manage information 
efficiently and effectively to meet legislative,  
business, administrative, financial, evidential and  
historical requirements. 

In support of the Plan, the MRA has an approved retention 
and disposal schedule and a recordkeeping policy which 
holds staff, contractors and organisations that perform on 
behalf of the MRA responsible for their records involvement. 
Policies and procedures are updated regularly or on a needs 
basis to ensure all requirements are being met. 

The MRA’s induction program for recordkeeping is 
compulsory for all new staff to attend. The induction covers 
the recordkeeping responsibilities as well as an overview 
of how to use the EDRMS. Ad hoc training sessions are 
available upon request if staff requires further training. A 
review of the training program will be completed in late 2015 
in line with organisation’s overall induction program. 

Freedom of Information Requests
In accordance with the Freedom of Information Act 1992  
the MRA has a procedure and strategy in place to assist  
with Freedom of Information requests. The MRA 
Information Statement provides information about the  
MRA and how to make an FOI request; it is available to  
the public on www.mra.wa.gov.au. 
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Further information 
For more information on the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority and 
our projects, please visit www.mra.wa.gov.au or call 08 6557 0700. 

@VitalPerth

perthculturalcentre

Vital Perth




